
 

Dinas a Sir Abertawe 
 
Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod 
 
Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod 

 

Pwyllgor Datblygu Polisi Cydraddoldeb a 
Chenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 

 

Lleoliad: 
 

Ystafell Bwyllgor 5 - Neuadd y Ddinas, Abertawe 
 

Dyddiad: 
 

Dydd Mawrth, 25 Chwefror 2020 

Amser: 
 

2.00 pm 

Cadeirydd: Y Cynghorydd  Louise Gibbard 
 

 

Aelodaeth: 
Cynghorwyr: C Anderson, J A Hale, D W Helliwell, T J Hennegan, P K Jones, 
M Sherwood, P B Smith, L J Tyler-Lloyd a/ac L V Walton 
 
 

 

Agenda 
Rhif y Dudalen. 

1   Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb.  
 
2   Derbyn Datgeliadau o Fuddiannau Personol a Rhagfarnol.  

 www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau  
 
3   Cofnodion. 1 - 3 

 Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod 
blaenorol. 

 

 
4   Strategaeth Ynni. 4 - 67 
 
5   Adborth yn dilyn y gweithdy - Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol. 

(Ar lafar) 
 

 
6   Diweddariad am y Polisi Datblygu Cynaliadwy. (Ar lafar)  
 
7   Cynllun Gwaith 2019/20. 68 
 
 

Cyfarfod nesaf: Dydd Mawrth, 24 Mawrth 2020 ar 2.00 pm 

 
Huw Evans 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Dydd Llun, 17 Chwefror 2020 

Cyswllt: Y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd Ffôn (01792) 636923

http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau


 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Equalities & Future Generations 
Policy Development Committee 

 
Committee Room 5, Guildhall, Swansea  

Tuesday, 17 December 2019 at 2.00 pm 

 
Present: Councillor L S Gibbard (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s) 
C Anderson D W Helliwell T J Hennegan 
P K Jones M Sherwood P B Smith 
L V Walton   
 
Also present 
Councillor Andrea Lewis Cabinet Member for Homes, Energy & Service   
    Transformation / Joint Interim Deputy Leader 
 
Officer(s)  
Sally-Ann Evans Senior Lawyer 
Kate Jones Democratic Services Officer 
Joanne Portwood Strategy and Policy Officer 
Suzy Richards Sustainable Policy Officer 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): J A Hale and L J Tyler-Lloyd 
Officers: S Lackenby and M Nicholls 

 

 
21 Disclosures of Personal & Prejudicial Interests. 

 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of 
Swansea, no interests were declared. 
 

22 Minutes. 
 
Resolved that the Minutes of the Equalities & Future Generations Policy 
Development Committee held on 26 November 2019 be approved and signed as a 
correct record.  
 

23 Update on Progress to Council Notice of Motion relating to Climate Change 
Emergency. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Homes, Energy and Service Transformation presented a 
report on ‘Update on Progress to Council Notice of Motion Relating to Climate 
Change Emergency’ and highlighted the following updates: - 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Equalities & Future Generations Policy Development Committee (17.12.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

 Swansea had volunteered to participate in a Welsh Government pilot on setting 
a standard ‘scope’ for the public sector 

 An appropriate date would be set to sign up to the Climate Change Charter with 
as many partners as possible  

 The Stakeholder 

 – possibility of using specialist organisation Environmental Forum had accepted 
the offer to engage as a stakeholder forum to assist the Council in developing 
its action plan 

 Development of public engagement 

 Work had begun on reviewing the relevant Council policies and looking at how 
they align 

 
Questions and discussions focussed on the following: -  
 

 Monitoring the Charter  

 Progress of the action plan – Quick wins, medium and longer term goals, 
resource implications and baselining to monitor progress  

 Challenge of indirect emissions – incentives and control 

 Regular updates and contribution to the action plan 

 Heavy goods vehicles and alternative fuels / fuel stations available (such as 
hydrogen) 

 Sustainable transport 

 Recent grant of £189,000 for green vehicle charging points 

 Effect of online shopping – deliveries 

 Progress on public engagement and market-stall type event 

 Improved information / advertising on what the Council was doing 

 Implementation of the Charter – training to reach all levels staff 

 Consideration of large city events – carbon footprint of such events and ways to 
reduce / minimise impact i.e. possibilities of changes to licencing / procurement 
in respect of stands as well as improved transportation. 

 
Resolved that the update be noted and regular updates be provided.  
 

24 Sustainable Development Policy. 
 
The Sustainable Policy Officer presented a report on the Sustainable Development 
Policy. She noted that the challenge going forward was to embed sustainable 
development policy into all levels of decision making to balance social, economic, 
environmental and cultural considerations taking into account of the short and long 
term impacts. The following was highlighted: -  
 

 Background 

 Rationale for a sustainable development policy 

 Opportunities and benefits 

 The 2012 sustainable development policy 

 Options for consideration in 2020 

 The corporate areas of change: - 
o Financial Planning 
o Asset Management 

Page 2



Minutes of the Equalities & Future Generations Policy Development Committee (17.12.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

o Performance Management 
o Risk Management 
o Corporate Planning 
o Workforce Planning 
o Procurement 

 The five ways of working 
o Integration 
o Involvement 
o Long Term 
o Prevention 
o Collaboration 

 
The Committee discussed the potential working group recommended in the report as 
well as possible deadlines / timescales.  
 
Resolved that: -  
1) The report be noted 
2) A working group be set up as recommended in the report 
 

25 Workplan 2019/20. 
 
The Chair presented the Work Plan 2019/20 and noted that the Strategic Equality 
Plan was scheduled for the next meeting.  
 
It was proposed that the Energy Strategy be added to the Work Plan for February 
and an update from Human Resources and Organisational Development be added 
to the Work Plan for March.  
 
Resolved that the Work Plan 2019/20 be updated accordingly.  
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 3.20 pm 
 
 

Chair 
 

Page 3



 
 

Report of the Director of Place  
 

Equalities & Future Generations Policy Development Committee 
25 February 2020 

 

Energy Strategy Update 
 

1.0  Introduction 
 

Following the Climate Emergency presentation to the Policy Development Committee 
on 22 October 2019, there was an action to provide an update on the Energy Strategy 
Action Plan (2016) and seek approval for recommendations. 

 
The Energy Strategy Action Plan was last updated in April 16 and a review to develop 
and implement a clear route map plan towards moving the council being net carbon 
zero by 2030 requires urgent updating. However, it is acknowledged that it needs to 
be flexible to accommodate the Welsh Government Carbon Emissions Reporting 
requirements, to be introduced by April 20. 
 
2.0  Achievements to Date 
 
The Council has adopted proactive programmes to reduce its carbon emissions over 
a number of years: 
 

 Significant progress has been achieved completing carbon reduction projects 
aligned to the Energy Strategy Action Plan (2016) resulting in the carbon 
emission savings as reportable to the Environment Agency through the Carbon 
Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme (see below). See 
Energy Strategy Action Plan updates (under separate attachment).  
 

 Since 2010 (baseline year), the Council has been a participant under the 
mandatory UK-wide Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency 
Scheme.  CRC carbon emission submissions to the Environment Agency since 
baseline year reported a carbon reduction of 23,154 t/CO2, financial saving on 
purchase of carbon allowances of £155,676 (2018/19). (Whilst the Council’s 
emissions have continued to reduce, the level of ‘tax’ levied for each tonne of 
carbon emitted increased annually).   
 
The CRC Scheme is being abolished following the 2018/19 compliance year, 
the Climate Change Levy will be increased to compensate (The Climate 
Change Levy is a tax on energy delivered (kWh) to non-domestic users and is 
collected through the energy suppliers bills). 
 

 21,053 street lights upgraded to LED, reducing carbon emissions year on year 
by 2,198,608.49kg. CityTouch, Central Management System commissioned to 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



control the street light output around Swansea ring road (financial and carbon 
savings).  Plans to extend the CityTouch system to Liberty Stadium; LED 
lighting upgrading on planned schemes. 

 

 Delivering insulation and energy efficiency measures to benefit tenants of our 
 council housing. 
 

 Progressing work towards a world-leading Tidal Lagoon, supporting community 
owned renewable energy schemes, like SCEES, to deliver clean energy and 
benefit local schools and community buildings. During 2019, the SCEES Solar 
PV project (covering 11 schools and 1 care home) generated 356,000 kWh. 
Additional Solar PV installations at the Guildhall and four schools generated 
89,000kwh.  
 

 Electric Vehicle Charge Points infrastructure (Jan 20). Charge point funding 
secured with Welsh Government Local Transport Fund and Office for Low 
Vehicles (On Street Residential Charge Point Scheme); 32 charge points and 
associated recharging bays will be installed in 12 car parks; electricity supplying 
the pillars are all 100% sustainably sourced. 
 

 Continuing to seek opportunities to add to our corporate fleet of Electric 
Vehicles, which is already the largest in Wales. Electric vehicle update  - 
Electric Vans (40); Electric car (1). 
 

 Between the reporting periods 2017/18 and 2018/19 a percentage reduction of 
4.88% in diesel purchased was achieved through the adoption of new electric 
vehicles and the renewal cycle of fuel efficient vehicles. 

 

 Building the first council housing in a generation here in Swansea to Passivhaus 
standard, and begun building new council housing to a super-energy-efficient 
“Swansea Standard” that will enable all components to be procured locally and 
reducing emissions using solar battery storage and air source heat pumps. 
 

 Retrofit: Ffordd Ellen – Craig Cefn Parc: 
The Council is working with the Welsh School of Architecture to retrofit 6 
bungalows at Ffordd Ellen, Craig Cefn Parc to include external wall insulation, 
Ground Source Heat Pumps (GSHP), MVHR’s, PV solar roofs and battery 
storage.  The bungalows are currently hugely expensive to heat, but will be 
transformed into Homes as Power Stations (HAPS) creating substantial energy 
savings for the tenants. 

 
Work has almost been completed on the project which has included the drilling 
of bore holes for the GSHP; the PV solar panels have been fitted to all the roofs 
and the installation of the Tesla storage batteries has finished. The scheme is 
on date to finish in March and will be closely monitored to determine future 
retrofit programmes following the recent decarbonisation targets set out by 
Welsh Government. Training days to showcase the new technologies will be 
arranged for staff shortly. 

 

 New Homes ‘Swansea Standard’ Current Developments: 
Parc Yr Helyg - Birchgrove 

Page 5



The 16 homes consist of a mixture of houses and apartments and have been 
developed as “Homes as Power Stations” (HAPS) with the installation of 
innovative renewable technologies such as integrated solar roofs, with battery 
storage and ground source heat pumps. The properties will not have a 
traditional gas supply, but will generate, store and then release their own 
electricity. The built is well under way with several of the buildings now having 
had the roof structures put on. The road has been formed, bases marked out 
and laid with the site gathering momentum and is hoping to be finished by 
March 2020. 
 
Colliers Way 2 - Penplas 
The CW2 development of a further 18 homes, again a mixture of houses and 
apartments; which is adjacent to our first phase; is thanks to the Welsh 
Government Innovative Housing Programme (IHP2) enabling both of these 
projects to include innovative renewable technologies to help reduce energy 
demand thus contributing to our decarbonisation reduction targets as well as 
benefiting the tenant with lower energy costs. The HAPS scheme will include 
similar technologies to our other developments and include integrated Solar 
roofs, battery storage, ground source heat pumps and Multi Ventilation Heat 
Recovery unit (MVHR). Some groundworks have been completed with the site 
becoming fully active.  

 

 Winning investment for innovative green technology, such as “Homes as Power 
Stations”, as part of the City Region Deal. 

 

 Implementing agile working so that our workforce may reduce unnecessary 
travel.  

 

 The Council procures its energy using Crown Commercial Services Framework 
Agreements, via the National Procurement Service (NPS), for the vast majority 
of supplies.  All electricity procured via the NPS framework is from 100% 
renewable energy sources; 41% sourced from Wales (Apr 20 – Mar 21); Gas – 
Total Gas and Power (TGP) procured as new gas supplier (Apr 21 – Mar 22); 
Green Gas tariffs - dependant on viability and cost impact; pricing option 
available with TGP later in the year.    
 

 Procurement have implemented Sustainable Risk Assessment Services to 
consider environmental impacts as part of contract procedure rules. 
 

 Refit Low Carbon Programme - The Council is participating in the Welsh 
Government supported Re:fit Low Carbon Programme in order to implement 
energy efficiency saving opportunities in non-domestic buildings.  A £1.3 million 
interest free loan has been secured from Welsh Government Wales Funding 
Programme (Salix) to deliver a Re:fit Cymru (Energy Efficiency) Phase 1 project 
comprising over 18 buildings which is projected to save an estimated 400 
tCO2e every year.  

 
 Solar Farm Projects - Collaborating with Welsh Government Energy Services 

on model size scenarios and financial appraisal assumptions towards the 
development of a Ground Mounted Solar PV farm.  The projected finance model 
is currently being evaluated but by way of an example a 3MW solar farm would 
provide maximum electricity generation (assuming no downtime) of 3,105,000 

Page 6



kWh/year, representing a 3.48% carbon emissions reduction against 2018/19 
footprint.    
 

3.0 Delivering a Carbon Neutral Estate by 2030 
 

In moving towards a net carbon neutral authority will require the need for whole holistic 
approach.  Key areas that the Council will require to commit to deliver directly include 
aligning departments with a carbon reporting requirement into its governance, 
infrastructure, strategies and policies with the proposed ‘Draft’ Policy & Strategy 
Review proposal. 
 
4.0   Reporting of Emissions   
 
It is proposed that the updated Energy Strategy Action Plan aligns its carbon 
emissions reporting with the widely used international reporting tool, the Greenhouse 
Gases (GHG) Protocol which categories Greenhouse gas emissions into three Scopes 
as illustrated in the diagram below. It is anticipated that the Welsh Government 
reporting requirements will follow this route. Reporting of carbon emissions falls within 
three scopes as illustrated in the diagram 
 
 

 
 

Scope 1 and Scope 2 cover carbon emissions that are presently measured by the 
Council  
 
 (a) Scope 1: Non-domestic buildings;  
 (b) Scope 1: Street lighting;  
 (c) Scope 1: Fleet mileage; and,  
 (d) Scope 1: Business mileage.  
 (e) Scope 2: Indirect emissions  
 
 
Scope 3 This covers carbon emissions not controlled or owned by the authority and 
only has powers of influence/ support / engagement to seek the necessary changes 
and needs to be divided into two elements:   
 

Page 7



 
 
 

a. The authority’s own work and the wider economy, for example engaging 
with procurement covering environmental impacts as part of contract of 
services; housing (i.e. sustainability); collaborating with Welsh Government 
/ working with other public sector organisations (Swansea University / 
Health Service).  
 

b. The second element of this strategy is to work with everyone else to achieve 
a significant Swansea change area wide, for example engaging with Low 
Carbon Swansea Bay & Swansea Environmental Forum / private sector  

 
The Welsh Government are developing a Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon 
Reporting Guide to be published in April 20 which will provide greater clarity on 
reporting requirements under Scope 3.  
 
4.1 Carbon Footprint – Non Domestic   
  
The dataset table below contains baseline sources of energy demand and supply to 
City and Council of Swansea non domestic buildings and the associated carbon 
emissions, excluding transport and street lighting. The Council spends in-excess of 
£5m annually on energy for its non-domestic buildings. 
 

Non Domestic 
Buildings 

2018/19 2017/18 

 kWh t/CO2 kWh t/CO2 

Gas 62,127,470 11,408 69,810,318 12,832 

Electricity 27,011,270 8,234 26,816,220 10,299 

Total 89,138,740 19,642 96,626,538 23,131 

 
4.2 Next steps 
 
4.2.1   Energy Strategy Update  
 
As indicated above the current energy strategy was approved by council in 2016 and 
this report sets out some of the keys areas of progress. 
 
The full existing strategy can be accessed via Appendix A 
 
In addition the original 2016 action plan is included in Appendix B but this has been 
updated to reflect the progress against the relevant actions. It is proposed that this 
forms the basis of the next iteration of the new energy strategy 
 
It is proposed that energy strategy will be developed towards managing the energy 
used by the buildings determined by the building fabric, the building services and the 
management of the building (including renewable options).   
 
Additional actions to the original 2016 Action Plan include the implementation of the 
Refit: Low Carbon Project (Phase 1), contract sign off arranged for Feb 20 with 
programme schedule to commence Mar/Apr 20; developing energy conservation 
measures towards Refit: Phase 2 and moving forward the Solar PV farm. 

Page 8



 
One suggested change is to develop a sustainable transport and staff travel policy as 
part of emerging policies which would mean a number of the actions moving from the 
energy strategy into a new stand-alone policy.  
 
The views of the PDC are welcome as to any changes or additional actions required 
as part of the update policy 
 
5.0 Financial Implications 
 
There are no financial implications associated with this report 
 
6.0 Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications associated with this report 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices -  
Appendix A - City and County of Swansea Swansea’s Energy Strategy 08/04/2016 
Appendix B - Updated Action Plan 

Page 9



 
 

           Appendix A to PDC Energy Strategy Update dated_25 Feb 20 

 
 
 
 

City & County of Swansea’s 
Energy Strategy 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Date: 08/04/2016 
Version 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



1 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

In order to achieve Swansea’s vision ‘to create a safer, greener, smarter, fairer, 

healthier and richer Swansea’, we must act to 

 invest in renewable energy (solar, hydro, wind, tidal, biomass etc.);  

 reduce our own rising electricity and gas costs and those of our communities; 

 invest in energy saving and storage initiatives (LED; insulation; smart 

controls; batteries etc.)  

 deliver  targets on CO2 emissions (£% per annum savings) and reduce our 

Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme (CRC) charges;’ 

 meet energy efficiency standards e.g. BREEAM; and   

 look at innovative energy generation and saving initiatives, which can create 

economic benefit, including employment and inward investment in Swansea, 

building on world class projects like the Tidal Lagoon. 

 look to increase local energy security, becoming less reliant on imported 

fossil fuels and less exposed to higher energy prices in the future. 

 

Energy Strategy Aim: 

City & County of Swansea will contribute towards a sustainable low carbon economy 

by delivering an Energy Strategy that delivers real benefits to society, the economy 

and the environment and sets out our wider and long term aims for energy across 

Swansea the place, as well as the council within the context of national and 

international developments. 

 

Energy Strategy Objectives: 

Objective 1: To reduce energy consumption and improve the energy efficiency of 

City & County of Swansea’s public building and housing stock portfolio 

Objective 2: To invest in renewable technologies that will benefit the council and the 

wider community 

Objective 3: To secure or facilitate community access to affordable low 

carbon/renewable energy 

Objective 4: Explore and maximise commercial opportunities to benefit community 

wellbeing and/or financial gain 

Page 11



2 
 

Objective 5: Ensure Energy Strategy and action plan are delivered in line with 

current legislation 

 

Through implementation of the Energy Strategy action plan the City & County of 

Swansea will mitigate the: 

• Effects of Climate change by reducing their carbon emissions 

• Risks associated with Energy security by sourcing low carbon/renewable  

 energy sources and eradicating fuel poverty 

• Risks associated with increased energy costs 

and define what an ‘Energy Self-sufficient city means Swansea’ 

 

The Council’s current activities include: 

o on-going HRA investment in our housing stock (new boilers, insulation, 

cladding, replacement windows etc.) making our tenants homes warm and 

energy efficient 

o the refit of street lamps with lower energy use LED 

o a small sample of PV (solar) on schools 

o a small number of biomass and CHP projects (schools and Leisure centre) 

o mechanical and electrical works across buildings delivering greater energy 

efficiency 

o the establishment of a community group (Swansea Community Energy & 

Enterprise Scheme, SCEES) to own and run renewable installations in the 

City & County of Swansea.  

o Development of a district heat network for the city centre 

All of these projects contribute to reducing the council’s carbon footprint and energy 

costs as well as contributing towards the Corporate Priorities of; 

 

1. Safeguarding vulnerable people 

2. Improving pupil attainment 

3. Creating a vibrant and viable city and economy 

4. Tackling poverty 

5. Building sustainable communities 

 

 

Page 12



3 
 

What we propose and what more can we do: 

 Support the roll out of Smart Meters in all domestic properties by 2020 

 Set up the corporate governance and management structures to deliver our 

centralised energy strategy across departments. An internal team should take 

ownership of the energy strategy and meet regularly to drive forward the 

strategy  

 Assess our entire schools’ estate for biomass and solar feasibility to generate 

and provide cheaper energy 

 Map our land based assets and assess feasibility for wind, solar and hydro 

potential 

 Assess our buildings for energy saving initiatives and possible PV, biomass 

boilers, ground source heating etc. 

 Explore options to develop heat networks across existing building stock and 

new developments in the City Centre and across the county  

 Identify budgets for investment and access appropriate grants and subsidies 

 Set out and timetable a list of potential projects that can be assessed through 

a small business cases for Council approval 

 Look at energy technology capital investments as a driver to: 

o reduce fuel poverty 

o reduce our own energy costs and CO2 emissions across our estate 

o provide economic stimulus and significant jobs  

o build new industries, research and innovation in partnership with the 

public, private and third sector  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 13



4 
 

Contents Page 
               Page 

   
1. Introduction         7  
 
2. Background         8 
 
3. Corporate Vision & Priorities       9 
 
3.1 Vison of an Energy Self-sufficient Swansea    11 
 
4. Energy Hierarchy        13 
 
4.1 Energy Reduction        14 
 
4.2 Energy Efficiency         15 
 
4.3 Renewable Energy        25 
 
4.4 Low Carbon Energy       27 
 
4.5 Conventional Energy       31 
 
5.0 City Deal         31 
 
6.0 Community Initiatives       33 
 
7.0 Commercial Opportunities      33 
 
8.0 Other Carbon Reduction Initiatives     35 
 
9.0 Funding Opportunities       3 
   
10.0 Partnerships        31  
 
11.0 Related Strategies/Policies      32 
 
12.0 Communicating, Monitoring & Reviewing    33 
 
References           54 
 
Table 1 – External Wall Insulation Savings     15 
 
Figure 1 – Waste Hierarchy       13 
 
Figure 2 – Strategy Elements       14 
 
Figure 3 – Typical Enveloping Scheme     17 
 
Figure 4 – Morriston Comprehensive (BREEAM Excellent)  18 

Page 14



5 
 

 
Figure 5 – St Thomas Primary Solar Scheme    26 
 
Figure 6 – Morriston Comprehensive CHP installation   28 
 
Figure 7 – District Heating Network Proposal    30  
 
 
Graph 1 – Carbon emissions since CRC baseline year   11 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Energy Strategy Aims & Objectives    38 
     
Appendix 2 – Micro-generation Technology References   40 
  
Appendix 3 – Original CRC Action Plan     41 
 
Appendix 4 – DECC subsidies (PV, Wind, Hydro)    48 
 
Appendix 5 – Energy Self Sufficiency Case Studies   49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



6 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 
Welsh Government’s priority is to bring public sector buildings up to the energy 

efficiency standards of today. Wales’ draft Energy Efficiency Strategy (2015) aims to 

‘contribute strongly to the well-being of future generations goals’ by 

 

 Reducing greenhouse gases 

 Reducing fuel poverty 

 Creating jobs through investment in Green Growth  

 Improving energy performance of buildings in Wales 

 Regenerating communities in Wales 

 Working towards a circular economy 

 Enabling natural resource management 

 

In 2011, the City & County of Swansea developed a Carbon Reduction Strategy and 

Action Plan with short, medium and long term actions to tackle the risks of Climate 

Change. One of the key targets within the CRC Action Plan was to develop a Micro-

generation strategy but due to the unprecedented budget cuts and the need for the 

authority to explore other ways of generating income, a decision was made to 

develop an Energy Strategy instead which will align with Corporate Priorities and 

provide a framework that delivers real benefits to society, the economy and the 

environment and sets out our wider and long term aims for energy across Swansea 

the place, as well as the Council within the context of national and international 

developments. 

 

It will enable Swansea to be an energy self-sufficient city exceeding our carbon 

targets, providing cheaper electricity to residents and achieving sustainable savings. 

It will identify the technologies and programmes available to enable the authority to 

prepare for future risks associated with securing an energy supply that is affordable 

and mitigates the risks associated with climate change, fuel poverty and energy 

security. The strategy will act as an overarching framework in relation to sustainable 

energy supply and use with the aim of working towards the eradication of fuel 

poverty, cutting emissions, maximising commercial opportunities and maintaining 

energy security to protect the most vulnerable members of society. 

Page 16



7 
 

2.0 Background 

The Welsh Government (WG) has long recognised that sustainability issues are key 

to the successful economic development of Wales, as encapsulated in their  

document “One Wales – A Progressive Agenda for the Government of Wales” (June 

2007). In May 2009, WG published “One Wales: One Planet – The Sustainable 

Development Scheme of the Welsh Assembly Government”, which reconfirmed a 

commitment to establish a 3% year on year reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 

from 2011, in areas of devolved competence. More recently, ‘The Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act (2015) has superseded the Welsh Government Sustainable 

Development Scheme, which commits the Welsh Public Sector to use resources 

efficiently and proportionately. Welsh Government has a statutory obligation to 

eradicate fuel poverty as far as is reasonably practicable, in all households in Wales 

by 2018. In addition, the 2008 Climate Change Act sets a legally binding target aim 

to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the UK by at least 80% (from the 1990 

baseline) by 2050.  

 

The Council’s non domestic buildings make up 74% of the local Authority’s total 

emissions. Rising energy and fuel costs and the implications of the CRC mean that 

the financial incentives for reducing energy use are increasingly significant. The 

council has experienced an 80% increase in overall energy expenditure since 2003. 

With further increases being predicted and future tightening of fiscal measures 

related to carbon there is likely to be an increase in financial opportunities for 

projects associated with reducing energy consumption. Even with government 

(DECC) this year announcing and proposing significant renewable energy subsidy 

cuts in Feed in Tariffs (FiT’s), renewable technologies such as solar, hydro, biomass 

and wind will remain an area that the authority can explore to assist the authority to 

achieve these wider targets going forward. 

 

This Strategy will have particular relevance to BREEAM driven projects, 21st century 

schools and will reflect the asset disposal programme. It will support the Authority’s  

‘Outcome Agreements’ with a particular effect on the Sustainable theme of ‘Growth & 

Sustainable Jobs’, the outcome of which is creating a sustainable low carbon 

economy  with a commitment to ‘reduce Swansea’s impact on climate change 

Page 17



8 
 

through reducing carbon emissions’. Implementation of the Strategy will assist the 

Authority to reduce its energy usage, associated costs and carbon emissions, 

improving the built environment and ensuring a consistent and standard method for 

considering implementation of renewable energy systems across the authority’s 

assets.  As part of this strategy the Authority will also explore any commercial 

opportunities available as well as the roll out of community initiatives such as the 

Swansea Community Energy Enterprise Scheme (SCEES) and large infrastructure 

projects such as the Swansea City Centre District Heating Scheme.  

 

3.0 Corporate Vision and Priorities 

Energy efficiency is a very important element in achieving the well-being of future 

generations in Wales. In order to achieve Swansea’s vision ‘to create a safer, 

greener, smarter, fairer, healthier and richer Swansea’, we must act now to 

mitigate risks associated with the supply, affordability and carbon impact of energy 

consumption. This will not happen by having a ‘make do’ attitude but rather by being 

a pro-active organisation and identifying what action is needed now ensure 

continued investment in energy efficiency to achieve our vision. 

 

The Strategy reflects the Corporate Priorities of;  

6. Safeguarding vulnerable people 

7. Improving pupil attainment 

8. Creating a vibrant and viable city and economy 

9. Tackling poverty 

10. Building sustainable communities 

 

By;  

 Providing low cost energy options  

 Having an innovative approach to energy management 

 Thinking and working differently to improve our ability to deliver and to meet 

the energy demands of the residents of Swansea 

 Exploring commercial opportunities to generate income 

Page 18



9 
 

 Identifying and investigating funding opportunities available and prioritise 

those which will bring about the greatest benefits and develop the most cost 

effective route to achieving the authority’s targets 

 Working collaboratively both internally and externally to maximise resources 

and knowledge to ensure we prioritise our resources and get the best for our 

communities. 

 Raising energy awareness amongst employees, Swansea residents and the 

wider community 

 Improving the lives of the people who live and work in Swansea by 

empowering local communities to meet their own energy needs in a 

sustainable way.  

     

The City & County of Swansea is committed to implementing energy saving projects 

and achieving significant carbon savings across their building estate to enable it to 

meet its CO2 reduction target of 3% per annum by 2020 compared to baseline year 

09/10. In addition to the ongoing energy conservation work currently being 

undertaken such as those initiatives in the Carbon reduction action plan, 21st Century 

Schools, BREEAM, Arbed and initiatives such as SCEES and District Heating 

Scheme, the council are keen to not only maintain current standards but to explore 

energy saving opportunities including renewable and low carbon energy 

technologies as well as financial opportunities such as the formation of its own 

energy company.  

 

The Council will identify opportunities across all service areas to reduce reliance on 

natural resources and become self-sufficient leaders in energy management.  

Page 19



10 
 

 

 

Graph 1 – Co2 emissions since CRC baseline year (09/10) 

The strategy aims to inform all stakeholders how the Authority intends to mitigate the 

risks posed from energy supply, costs and carbon emissions. It will also provide links 

to best practice guidance for incorporating micro-generation technologies into the 

City & County of Swansea’s Asset portfolio. 

3.1 Vision of an energy self-sufficient Swansea 

Energy is a fundamental to keeping Swansea running on a daily basis.    The 

benefits of Swansea being 100% self-sufficient in energy are significant and include: 

 Generating income, 

 Tackling fuel poverty, 

 Energy security – if ‘off grid’ resilient against impacts from the national energy 

market.  

 Contribute to the Welsh target of  an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 

by 2050;  

 High performing homes;  

 Developing a strong local green economy 

 Building economic resilience 

 

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

E
m

is
s
io

n
s
 (

C
o

2
 T

o
n

n
e
s
)

Year

CRC Actual Emissions against Target Emission 
Reduction 

Target

Actual

Page 20



11 
 

There are therefore a number of definitions the Council could adopt; depending on 

the boundaries it wants to adopt (Council or County): 

 

1. ‘off grid’ energy self-sufficient Council or County –activities are designed to save 

energy and are highly energy efficient.  The Council /County produce enough 

energy from renewable sources to directly run its services and activities.  Any 

surplus energy is stored or is sold to the grid.     

 

2. An ‘on grid energy self-sufficient Council/County – activities are designed to save 

energy and are highly energy efficient.  The Council/Council exports at least as 

much energy to the grid as it imports, off-setting its usage.   

 

3. A near carbon zero County – This model looks at carbon production rather than 

energy use and requires the County to be near zero carbon (zero net carbon 

emissions) i.e.: 

a. All the Counties residents and industries are operating at zero carbon 

emissions either through energy savings and efficiencies and / or renewable 

energy generation and use / offset or a mixture of the three.   

b. There are zero carbon travel emissions within the County – focusing on 

sustainable transport modes, green travel plans, low carbon vehicles,  

c. There is zero waste – using the waste hierarchy, smart city living and better 

use of our environment for leisure, food growing and carbon storage.   

d. The County has high levels of green and growing space and supports a low 

carbon local food industry to keep food miles down and support food 

security. 

The City and County of Swansea already have a number of projects underway which 

would contribute to energy self-sufficiency including; SCEES (Swansea Community 

Energy and Enterprise Scheme), AREBED Sandfields Renewal Area, AREBED 2 

Waun Wen, in addition we also have a wide range of projects which contribute to 

reducing carbon emissions including; reviewing greenhouse gas emissions, the 

Corporate Carbon Reduction Strategy, investigating opportunities to support electric 

vehicles both internally within the Council and externally for the public, making the 

Councils fleet eco-friendly, the development of a Green Infrastructure Strategy, 

improving facilities for walking and cycling in the city centre to name a few.      

Page 21



12 
 

However moving forward the Council would need to set out a strategic approach, 

outlining how Swansea can hope to achieve its ambitions.  A series of case studies 

are provided in Appendix 5, demonstrating how other areas in the UK have met this 

challenge. 

4.0 Energy Hierarchy  
 
City & County of Swansea’s Energy Strategy is written in line with the Energy 

Hierarchy.  It is structured in this way to inform the reader of measures already 

implemented by the Authority, measures currently being considered and those 

measures the Authority intend to explore going forward. There are typically five 

stages to the Energy Hierarchy which are demonstrated in the diagram below; 

 

 
Figure 1 – Energy Hierarchy 

Each stage of the Hierarchy will be discussed in turn in the section’s that follow with 

examples specific to the initiatives currently being implemented or considered by the 

City & County of Swansea. 

 

The key elements that the Strategy will therefore focus on are illustrated below: 

 

Page 22

https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/4/47/Energy_Hierarchy.png


13 
 

 

 

 

Figure 2 – Strategy Elements 

 

4.1 Energy Reduction/Savings 

The cost of energy for the Council in 2014/15 was £6.6M which included street 

lighting, non-domestic buildings and facilities but excluded transport related 

activities. In addition to the above direct energy costs, the Council is required to 

report on carbon emission and pay a price for every tonne of carbon emitted (relating 

to electricity and gas consumption) under the Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) 

scheme. Rising energy and fuel costs and the implications of CRC mean that the 

financial incentives for reducing energy use are increasingly significant.  

 

Further to this, the UK’s energy infrastructure is ageing and requires major 

investment over the next decade, the cost of which is likely to be reflected in energy 

prices. Energy management performance has also become increasingly visible to all 

interested parties by the introduction of Display Energy Certificates (DEC’s) for 

Page 23



14 
 

public buildings, the Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme 

(CRC) and “low carbon” building design for BREEAM accreditation.  

 

City & County of Swansea developed a Carbon Reduction Strategy report and Action 

plan in 2011 with short, medium and long term actions. Two years in, and the 

Authority has all but completed the short and medium actions. Long term actions and 

any outstanding medium term actions will be addressed going forward within this 

Strategy Action Plan. Links to the Carbon Reduction Strategy report and Action Plan 

are given below should more detail be required. See Appendix 3 for the original 

Carbon Reduction Action Plan, including current status of actions. 

 

http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__

CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf 

 

http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Ac

tion_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf 

 

Some of the key actions addressed to date include carrying out energy audits, 

implementing e-billing, collating energy and carbon baseline data from TEAM 

software per service area and installation of AMR devices in non-domestic buildings. 

The Authority has successfully met its carbon reduction targets year on year since its 

baseline year 2009/10, achieving 21%reduction on the baseline year in 14/15 

exceeding our annual 3% target.  

 

4.2 Energy Efficiency 

There are a number of initiatives that the City & County of Swansea are currently 

involved in to maximise the energy efficiency of their building stock, these include; 

 

4.2.1 PAS2030 

PAS 2030 (Publicly Available Specification) is published by the British Standards 

Institute (BSi) and is aimed at installers of Energy Efficiency Measures (EEM) for 

Green Deal and ECO projects – this could be anything from installing draught-

Page 24

http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Action_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Action_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf


15 
 

proofing to doors, windows and access hatches, to internal and external wall and loft 

insulation systems. 

 

PAS 2030 certification sets out the minimum technical competencies you need to 

have to be able to install EEM for Green Deal and ECO customers. It also explains 

the requirements for companies or organisations who want to become installers of 

Green Deal and ECO measures. 

 

Lead Contractors (those Green Deal installers who work directly with a Green Deal 

Provider) will need to operate a Quality Management System (QMS) in line with 

PAS2030.  

 

The Authority’s Corporate Building & Property Services department has PAS2030 

accreditation for the following energy efficiency measures; 

 Boiler installation 

 Enveloping 

The aforementioned efficiency measures will help support a number of key priorities, 

specifically Corporate Priorities 1, 4 and 5. The installation of boilers, enveloping and 

installation of loft insulation will help tackle fuel poverty and support a reduction in 

our overall carbon footprint. The properties will be more thermally efficient and 

comfortable to the individual tenant. 

 

The pictures below show a typical enveloping scheme before, during and after 

completion of works.  A typical enveloping scheme is expected to achieve carbon 

and cost savings as detailed in Table 1 below. 

 

 

 

Table 1 - External Wall Insulation Savings 

Measure. Saving per year. Total cost including 

installation. 

Carbon Dioxide (CO2) 

saved per year. 

External Wall 

Insulation 

Around £490 £9,400 to £13,000 1.9 tonnes 

Page 25



16 
 

                                                                                                            Source: Energy Saving Trust 

 

     Before      During     After 

 

Figure 3 – Typical Enveloping Scheme1  

 

4.2.2 BREEAM Standards 

BREEAM is the world's foremost environmental assessment method and rating 

system for buildings. BREEAM sets the standard for best practice in sustainable 

building design, construction and operation and has become one of the most 

comprehensive and widely recognised measures of a building's environmental 

performance. It encourages designers, clients and others to think about low carbon 

and low impact design, minimising the energy demands created by a building before 

considering energy efficiency and low carbon technologies. 

A BREEAM assessment uses recognised measures of performance, which are set 

against established benchmarks, to evaluate a building’s specification, design, 

construction and use. The measures used represent a broad range of categories and 

criteria from energy to ecology. They include aspects related to energy and water  

use, the internal environment (health and well-being), pollution, transport, materials, 

waste, ecology and management processes. The City & County of Swansea have to 

achieve BREEAM Excellent/Very Good on any scheme where a Welsh Government 

Capital grant scheme is applied for. This links specifically to Corporate priorities 2, 3 

and 5. The authority has achieved BREEAM Excellent on a number of schemes 

including;  

                                                           
1  Accreditation to the PAS2030 standard has been successfully achieved by CB&PS for Boiler Installation and 
Enveloping. 

Page 26



17 
 

 Morriston Comprehensive 

 Penyrheol Comprehensive 

 Cefn Hengoed Comprehensive 

 St Thomas Primary 

 Burlais Primary  

 

 

 

Figure 4 – Morriston Comprehensive (BREEAM Excellent) 2 

4.2.3 21st Century schools and QEd programme 

The 21st Century Schools Programme is a One Wales commitment and a unique 

collaboration between the Welsh Government (WG), the Welsh Local Government 

Association (WLGA) and local authorities.  It is a major, long-term and strategic 

capital investment programme with the aim of creating a generation of 21st century 

schools in Wales. The programme focuses on establishing appropriate resources on 

the right schools in the right places, for early years through to post-16.  Quality in 

Education 2020 (QEd 2020) is a Swansea specific priority programme within the 

Council's strategic portfolio aimed at achieving the 21st Century School Priorities. It 

builds on the considerable work that has been undertaken over a number of years 

and the achievements that have been delivered through, for example, the previous 

School Organisation Programme. The QEd 2020 programme is far broader than 

                                                           
2 BREEAM Standard is followed for all Welsh Government funded Schemes as prescribed within the grant 
criteria 

Page 27



18 
 

simply having "the right schools in the right places". 

  

QEd 2020 aims to deliver a step change in the condition of school buildings and  

facilities and support wider educational strategies. This will allow us to continue to 

raise educational standards for all learners. It encompasses the progressive review 

and, where necessary, the rationalisation of schools, as part of a far wider and 

coherent strategy for education within Swansea. There is a clear link to Corporate 

Priority 2, Improving Pupil Attainment and Priority 5, Building Sustainable 

Communities.  

 

Swansea has a QEd priority programme. They match fund capital investment from 

Welsh Government (50/50) and are currently in Band A of the programme which 

dependant on funding is due to be completed by 2020. Improvements that have 

been part of the QEd programme to date include Morriston Comprehensive Phase 1 

& 2, Burlais Primary, Pentregraig Primary School and Gowerton Primary School. 

Future developments in the programme include two new primary schools in Lon Las 

and Gorseinon, with significant new construction/remodelling in Pentrehafod 

Comprehensive.  3 

 

4.2.4 Welsh Housing Quality Standard Programme 

The One Wales commitment states that good quality affordable homes are the 

foundation of thriving communities. The Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) is 

a standard the Assembly Government expects all social housing to meet. 

WHQS aims to ensure tenants live in dwellings that are:  

 In a good state of repair;  

 Safe and secure;  

 Adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated;  

 Equipped with up-to-date kitchens and bathrooms;  

 Well managed (for rented housing);  

 Located in attractive and safe environments;  

                                                           
3 21st Century schools and QEd programme currently progressing schemes within Band A 

Page 28



19 
 

 As far as possible suited to the specific requirements of the household.  

Local authorities are required to improve their housing stock to WHQS levels and to 

devise realistic programmes to achieve this. As this will require a significant financial 

investment, and because of the borrowing restrictions local authorities face under 

Treasury rules regulating public sector borrowing, some authorities have chosen to 

transfer their stock to new Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to enable them to 

reach the WHQS. RSLs are in a position to secure additional investment funding 

without many of the restrictions faced by local authorities.  

 

The Council has the key aim to improve the Council housing stock and estates up to  

the Welsh Housing Quality Standard by 2020. The programme will require 

investment of over £270m between now and 2020 to deliver the improvements. The 

work needed will vary as some properties may need more work than others to bring 

them up to the standard. Tenants will be notified individually in advance on what 

work is proposed for their home, including likely start dates and who the contractor 

will be. 

 

Each year in February the Council sets the budget for the next financial year and 

determines what works will be undertaken as part of the annual Housing Capital 

Programme. A significant amount of money has already been invested in the 

properties. As part of the programme of improving properties up to the Welsh 

Housing Quality Standard, new kitchens and bathrooms are being installed in 

properties that need them. In the last 2 years, 377 properties have had new kitchens 

and bathrooms. A further 972 are scheduled for 2015 with increasing numbers in the 

years following.  

 

Since April 2010, 2827 properties have received external improvements such as wall 

insulation, new roofs, new doors and new guttering.  Works including recladding, 

roofing, replacement windows, improvements to communal areas, new kitchens and 

bathrooms has also been carried out to improve high rise blocks at Matthew Street, 

Clyne Court and Jeffrey's Court. 

 

Gas boilers are renewed as part of a planned programme with the oldest systems 

treated as a priority. It is intended that all properties will have efficient combi boilers 

Page 29



20 
 

with 8,629 installed so far. Another 855 are scheduled for replacement this year with 

around 800 per year after that. 

 

Tenants are offered the option to switch heating fuels to either gas or oil if they have 

coal or electric. 20 properties have been converted to date.  

 

Upgrades to heating systems are also offered. Tenants can request timer clocks, 

room thermostats or a radiator for a room if it doesn't already have one. 94 

properties are on this year's scheme for an upgrade. 

 

The Authority completed its window replacement contract in 2011 with all properties 

benefiting from double glazed units. The door renewal programme is also complete 

with 8497 properties having had new uPVC or fire safety doors installed since April 

2010. A further 548 properties had  new doors fitted in 2015. There was also a 

programme of loft insulation renewal that was carried out by British Gas on some of 

City & County of Swansea’s housing stock which will be taken over by CB&PS with 

around 300 properties having their loft insulation replaced annually. 4 There is a clear 

link with Corporate Priorities 1, 3, 4 and 5 from implementing these initiatives. 

 

4.2.5 New Social Housing  

A new European Directive (NZeb) is being introduced which requires all member 

states to ensure all new builds are zero energy/Passivhaus standard by 2020.  

In response Swansea council has launched the ‘More Homes project’, the purpose 

of which is to pilot a small scheme of new build Solcer/Passivhaus homes. There is  

an overwhelming need for more affordable homes to meet current and future needs.  

in a relatively short timescale and in doing so provide valuable information to help  

inform the longer term strategy. In addition to providing more homes, the objectives  

of the pilot is to test a number of issues which in turn will help inform the longer term  

strategy .These include: 

 Overall financial viability of directly developing new Council housing: 

 The practical, organisational and capability issues that will need to be 

addressed as part of the ongoing More Homes programme: 

                                                           
4 Welsh Housing Quality Standard Programme ongoing  

Page 30



21 
 

 Specification options to balance the viability of the scheme with the 

affordability for the occupants and overall sustainability of the design 

 

Possible pilot sites have been identified. The next stage will be to carry out detailed 

site investigations and surveys, and outline designs that will meet the specific needs 

in the chosen areas.   The intention is for much of this work to be completed using 

in-house resources. 5  There is a clear link with Priorities 1, 3, 4 and 5 from  

implementing these initiatives. 

 

4.2.6 Home Energy Efficiency 

The City & County of Swansea has been successful in using various sources of 

information to target area based Energy Efficiency works to both Social Housing and 

Private Sector properties. Such sources of information include the Welsh Index of 

Multiple Depravation (WIMD), Energy Performance Certificate Data (EPC), Standard 

Assessment Performance Data (SAP) and House Condition Survey Data. As a result 

of this targeting we have been successful in obtaining funding from number of 

funding streams as detailed below resulting approximately £2.2m being brought into 

Swansea in 2015. This not only improved the thermal efficiency of properties in 

Swansea but also helping to secure many much needed jobs in the area via social 

benefits clauses in construction contracts.  

 
Funding Streams utilised 

 Arbed - the Welsh Government’s energy efficiency funding programme 

designed to bring environmental, social and economic benefits to Wales 

and coordinated investment into the energy performance of Welsh homes. 

It is targeted at low income communities.  

 ECO – Energy Company Obligation is a government scheme to help 

improve the energy efficiency of domestic premises in Britain funded via 

energy suppliers who liaise with occupiers and landlords in order to 

identify and implement suitable energy efficiency measures. 

 GDHIF – Green Deal Home Improvement Fund is an incentive launched 

by the UK Government. Open to all households in England and Wales 

                                                           
5 New Social Housing – “More Homes” pilot project currently progressing 

Page 31



22 
 

including landlords, it is a cash back scheme aimed to make homes more 

energy efficient.  

 CESP – Community Energy Saving Programme was an obligation on UK 

energy companies to deliver energy saving measures to low income 

households, which was area based. The obligation came into force on 1 

September 2009 and ran until 31 December 2012. 

 CERT – The Carbon Emission Reduction Target (CERT) (formerly the 

Energy Efficiency Commitment) which ran in 3 phases required all electricity 

and gas suppliers to assist their customers to take energy-efficiency 

measures in their homes. Suppliers had to achieve at least half of their 

energy savings in households on income-related benefits and tax credits, 

superseded by ECO in 2013. 

 

Schemes 
Private Sector 

 The Hafod Renewal Area - a private sector initiative in partnership with 

Scottish & Southern Electric and Scottish Power was able to obtain 

£580,000 via CESP to help install solid wall insulation and boilers to 

private sector homes and a further £714k from Arbed phase 1. 

 Sandfields Renewal Area – Swansea’s new Renewal Area aiming to 

upgrade 1,000 properties from 2014-19, £1.8 million has been secured 

from Arbed 2 to help fund energy related measures. 

 Gas Main and central heating installs in Glynteg & Brynymor - In areas 

both public and private sector properties benefited from subsidies from 

CERT and fuel switching vouchers amounting to approximately £30k. 

These projects facilitated bringing gas pipe lines into areas where they do 

not have gas pockets “off gas” areas that were deemed to be in fuel 

poverty. This work was done in partnership with Warm Wales. 

 
Council Stock 

 The Authority in partnership with Scottish Power and ‘Regen and Renew’ 

was able to replace approximately 1136 ‘G’ rated boilers with new efficient 

‘A’ rated boilers in council stock via CESP amounting to 1.4 million. 

 The Authority was also successful in obtaining a further 1 million of CESP 

funding for solid wall insulation and thermally efficient doors. ECO has now 

Page 32



23 
 

replaced CESP and this subsidy is continued to be utilised to fund similar 

measures.  

 Loft Programme - the Council recently came to the end of a very 

successful loft insulation programme in partnership with British Gas who 

jointly funded the project through CERT and ECO. The scheme insulated 

2,500 homes significantly improving energy efficiency and giving the 

potential to save households around £100 a year on their fuel bills.  

 

Arbed is a Welsh Government programme aimed at saving carbon and reducing fuel 

poverty for residents across all housing tenures.  

It is focused on using Welsh businesses to manufacture, supply and install as 

many of the measures as possible to help boost the local economy. 

Phase 1 of the Arbed programme saw over 500 households in Clydach, 

Pontardulais and the Hafod Renewal Area receive energy efficiency 

improvements. 

Phase 2 of the Arbed programme started in May 2011 which included the 

installation of loft and external wall insulation and PV Panels. In 2011 City and 

County of Swansea secured funding for Phase 2 of the scheme for 229 

properties in the Morriston area. 6 The implementation of this programme 

clearly links with Corporate Priorities 1, 3, 4 and 5. 

4.2.7  Capital Maintenance Programme  
 
Energy/Sustainability Investment/Carbon Reduction Commitment 
 
The allocated budget allows good practice measures to reduce the Councils 

energy use and carbon emissions. The planned programme of works helps 

deliver on the Councils Carbon Reduction Strategy approved by Cabinet on 

the 17th November 2011 and help mitigate the Authority’s financial obligation 

within the Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme (CRC). 

It will also explore the opportunities linked to micro generation and in 

particular PV installations where it is cost effective to do so.   

 

                                                           
6 Arbed scheme funding has finished 

Page 33



24 
 

Replacement of redundant Mechanical and Electrical systems 
 
All projects within this area of the budget would have been selected as a result 

of nearing the end of their life expectancy and deemed at a Category D rating 

or below. They would need to be replaced as a result of issues of statutory 

compliance and business continuity concerns. In replacing such systems i.e. 

Electrical – replacement of inefficient lighting systems, Mechanical – redundant 

boilers and heat emitters etc.,  we will create more efficient buildings with less 

energy usage and an overall reduction in carbon which will in turn assist in 

maintaining a sustainable asset portfolio in line with the overarching asset 

management plan. 7 The implementation of these programmes links with 

Corporate Priorities 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

 

4.3 Renewable Energy  

Micro-generation is generally defined as any technology with a capacity to generate 

heat or electricity below about 50 kW.  

 

There are references in Appendix 2 to the following renewable technologies  

 Biomass heating 

  Solar Thermal 

 Solar Photovoltaic (PV)  

 Wind turbines 

 Hydro Energy 

directing the reader to more information about the different technologies, including a 

review of their benefits/limitations, site suitability, general planning issues, likely 

budget costs, saving calculations and carbon savings. This will provide information to 

all Council stakeholders so informed decisions can be made on which renewable 

technology will be most beneficial for the proposed use. All council owned properties 

and land will be appraised to identify opportunities for utilising renewable and low 

carbon energy sources within the Council’s corporate properties and the wider 

community of Swansea.   

                                                           
7 Capital Maintenance Programme progressing, demand based on compliance  

Page 34



25 
 

A number of micro-generation projects have already been progressed via the 

Councils 21st Century /QED programme which include: 

 Solar Photovoltaic Systems at YGG Llwynderw, St Thomas, Burlais & 

Gowerton Primary Schools and Penyrheol,  Cefn Hengoed and Morriston 

Comprehensive Schools 

 Solar Thermal Systems at Penyrheol Comprehensive School, Sketty & St 

Thomas Primary schools.  

 A 45KW Solar PV array has also been installed on the recently refurbished 

Guildhall. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5 – St Thomas Primary Solar Scheme 

Storage vessels or calorifiers 
allow storage of domestic hot 
water from a solar source without 
the need of fossil fuel boilers. 
 

Control and pumping 
arrangements take the solar 
heated hot water from the 
collectors and pass through the 
primary coils of the calorifiers. 
The pumps are temperature 
controlled and can call on the 
boilers to provide an extra boost if 
climatic conditions are not 
favourable  

Solar Collectors, allowing direct 
transfer of solar energy to heat or 
preheat primary coils of water 
calorifiers. 

Page 35



26 
 

To date the Authority has not pursued Wind Energy due to the long planning lead in 

times and biomass has not been fully explored. The feasibility of both these 

technologies will be explored as part of this strategy’s action plan. Opportunities for 

solar farms on council owned land that will benefit local communities and be 

financially beneficial to the local authority will also be explored.8 

 

4.4 Low Carbon Energy 

We promote the practical use of combined heat & power systems and other 

appropriate “low carbon” energy generating systems where feasible and cost 

beneficial.     

 

There are links provided in Appendix 2 directing the reader to more information 

about the different low carbon technologies currently on the market such as; 

  Absorption cooling 

  Ground Source Heat Pumps (GSHP) 

  Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) 

 Water Source Heat Pumps (WSHP)  

 Combined Heat & Power (CHP) 

 

These links provide information on the benefits/limitations, site suitability, general 

planning issues, likely budget costs, saving calculations and carbon savings. This 

will provide information to all Council stakeholders so informed decisions can be 

made on which renewable technology will be most beneficial for the proposed use. 

 

A number of low carbon technologies have already been implemented on a number 

of projects throughout the City & County of Swansea. These include; gas CHP in 

Swansea Leisure centre and Morriston Comprehensive school. 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
8 Renewable Energy – A number of measures have been implemented to date, but all options will be fully 
explored as part of this Energy Strategy Action Plan 

Page 36



27 
 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6 - Morriston Comprehensive CHP Installation 

 

 

Data Badge off unit one 
showing outputs and 
efficiency. 
 
Reduction of co2 emissions 
and efficiency levels of 96% 
are achievable. 

2 x SAV-Load tracker XRGI 
20G combined heat and power 
units as installed in the new 
Morriston Comprehensive 
Energy centre. 
 
Outputs of up to 20kw of 
electrical power and 40kw of 
thermal heating power per unit 
 

Buffer storage unit for storage 
of excess thermal power to 
enhance efficiency 

Page 37



28 
 

4.4.1 District Energy 

The City and County of Swansea have commissioned feasibility studies to explore 

the viability of introducing heat networks (district heating and district cooling) to 

existing and new development across the City. Heat networks supply heat to a 

number of buildings or dwellings from heat generated at a central source and 

supplied through a system of insulated pipes. Feasibility studies have concluded that 

a district heating network providing low carbon heat in Swansea is a viable option 

which would deliver key environmental, social and economic benefits. A number of 

heat clusters were identified based on the mapping of heat density across the 

authority. Further feasibility work, partly funded from UK Government’s Heat Network 

Delivery Unit (HNDU) will look at the phased development of a heat network with a 

start-up solution in the Maritime Quarter forming phase 1 of the network potentially 

connecting with two further clusters across the City Centre in phase 2. The authority 

is also exploring further opportunities outside of the City Centre and working in 

partnership with Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council to explore opportunities 

to utilise industrial heat as a source for the network in the long-term. 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 38



29 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Figure 7 - District Heating Network short-medium term proposal 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



30 
 

4.5 Conventional Energy 

The conventional sources of energy are generally non-renewable sources of energy. 

Conventional energy sources include oil, gas and coal. These conventional sources 

are usually fossil fuels. Their use leads to increased greenhouse gas emissions and 

other environmental damage. These sources of energy have been used extensively 

over the years in such a way that their known reserves have been depleted to a 

great extent. At the same time it is becoming increasingly difficult to discover and 

exploit their new deposits. It is envisaged that known deposits of petroleum in our 

country will get exhausted in a few decades and coal reserves are expected to last 

for another hundred years. City & County of Swansea still uses conventional sources 

of energy for electricity and heating purposes but is pro-actively reducing their 

reliance on non-renewable sources of energy by rolling out their Carbon Reduction 

Action Plan and this Energy Strategy. 

 

5.0 City Deal 

The aim of the City Deal is to provide clarity of purpose, consistency of approach and 

focus on collective action over the next two decades. This approach will aim to tackle 

the structural challenges holding back our economy and reduce the gap between our 

performance and the rest of the UK in terms of wealth creation to the benefit of both. 

 

The areas that the City Deal would like to develop are; 

 

The Internet of Energy:  

To create a smart and efficient “Future Energy System” that will integrate the 

region’s multi-billion asset base in renewable and conventional energy production 

and the testing and commercialising of integrated Future Energy Systems. 

 

The Internet of Health and Wellbeing: 

To advance health and wellbeing by delivering a network of health science “Media-

parks”, Wellness Centres and other assets. Building on a new digital architecture we 

will transform the delivery of health and social care in the region and contribute to the 

advancement of genomic medicine in analytics and diagnostics in the UK via 

network based solutions; and 

Page 40



31 
 

 

The Internet of Economic Acceleration: 

To provide UK plc with the resilience of a new Swansea Bay international internet 

gateway between London and North America by developing infrastructure in 

partnership with the private sector that will simultaneously establish Swansea and its 

hinterland as a ‘City of Innovation’. 

 

In doing so, the aim is to create high technology jobs both through start-ups and by 

attracting inward investment in high growth areas.  

 

Whilst the energy strategy is effectively a council strategy it is intended to 

encompasses the wider City region and is fully aligned to its city region bid 

 

6.0 Community Initiatives  

Community-led action around issues relating to energy and climate change has 

grown in recent years, increasing levels of local ownership of energy generation; 

schemes which help neighbours reduce their energy use together and group buying 

of energy. This is typically financed by community investment and operated for the 

benefit of the local community. Over 5,000 community energy groups have been set 

up in the UK since 2008, with 150-300 actively developing renewable energy 

projects. This approach is supported by UK Government who launched a Community 

Energy Strategy in 2014 (updated March 2015).  

 

The City and County of Swansea have been exploring options to promote community 

energy schemes which not only reduce carbon emissions but create a platform for 

local social and economic benefit. The Swansea Community Energy and Enterprise 

Scheme (SCEES) is a scheme exploring how local people in some of Swansea's 

most economically deprived areas can benefit from community renewable energy 

projects. In the first phase, the scheme aims to install solar PV on a number of 

schools which will lead to a reduction in carbon emissions. Surplus profits will be 

allocated to a community benefit fund to support the local community to develop 

skills, enterprise, economic growth and job creation. Whilst the scheme is still in 

development changes to legislation (the removal of preliminary accreditation, the 

Page 41



32 
 

proposed reduction in Feed-in Tariff subsidies and the removal of tax reliefs on 

social investment) has affected the most suitable delivery option and led to 

uncertainty in the sector over how many schemes will be to be delivered. The 

scheme is aligned to the corporate plan objectives, notably tackling poverty, building 

sustainable communities and safeguarding vulnerable people. 

 
7.0 Commercial Opportunities 
7.1 Income generation 
 
In spite of unprecedented budget cuts to date the local authority has taken 

advantage of government cash incentives for renewable energy projects (solar, and 

biomass) such as the Feed in Tariff (FiT) and the Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI). 

The Renewables Obligation (RO) is the main support mechanism for renewable 

electricity projects in the UK, and is available to any generator 50kWp and over in 

size. Smaller scale generation (Feed in Tariffs are available for anything from 0kWp 

to 5MWp) is mainly supported through the Feed-In Tariff scheme (FITs).   Contracts 

for Difference (CfDs) support very large >5MW new investment in low-carbon 

generation (renewables, nuclear, CCS) and have been designed to provide efficient 

and cost-effective price stabilisation for new generation, by reducing exposure to the 

volatile wholesale electricity price. CfDs are contracts between the energy generator 

and a government-owned company (LCCC) which guarantees a set price for energy 

generation to stabilise revenues and reduce exposure to volatile energy prices. 

CFDs provide a variable top-up from the market price to a pre-agreed 'strike price’. 

At times where the market price exceeds the strike price the generator is required to 

pay back the difference thus protecting consumers from over-payment. 

Recently in 2015 significant changes have been made/proposed to government 

grants for renewable energy outlined above; 

 ROC will end for all onshore wind and PV (solar) on 1 April 2016 

 Pre-accreditation of projects will end on 01 October 2015 (that had allowed 

grants to be guaranteed for up to 12mths) 

 Significant reductions are proposed for FITs for solar, hydro and wind from 01 

April 2016 leading to potentially up to 87% cuts in grants in some areas or the 

potential cap on FIT grants to £75m /£100m pa and even a worse-case 

scenario of closure of the whole scheme  

Page 42



33 
 

A number of Councils across the United Kingdom have either established their own 

energy companies (for example Nottingham and Bristol) or work with other partners 

to share risk (Sussex and Plymouth); both economic and social drivers have been 

key for Councils. Swansea council aim to explore the viability of developing 

Swansea's own energy company including  the commercial and social benefits that 

may be derived from this activity. In addition, Swansea Council has been offered the 

possibility of hosting an electric charging point by one of the major manufacturers of 

electric vehicles – Tesla. This work seeks to understand the commercial model 

behind this offer and whether this adds value to Swansea's economic and 

environmental priorities and existing electric  car charging infrastructure. 

 

8.0 Other Carbon Reduction Initiatives  

8.1 Fleet vehicles (Electric/hybrid vehicles) 

CCoS has 11 electric cars in its corporate fleet, with 1 electric van on order. All are 

predominantly used as pool vehicles at key premises equipped with charge point 

infrastructure to support maximum use. Options appraisals of electric vehicles are 

currently being undertaken for consideration on other vehicle renewals scheduled for 

2016, as well as the potential introduction of hybrid vehicles into main hub car pools 

to broaden the potential range of their use beyond county boundaries.      

 

8.2 Waste to Energy/Anaerobic digestion 

The Toward Zero Waste strategy document, published by Welsh Government, 

recommends that treating food waste by Anaerobic Digestion (AD) has significant 

potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. WG has funded a procurement 

programme which has aided local authorities to form regional Hubs and jointly 

procure contracts for the treatment of food waste at AD facilities. Swansea Council is 

a member of the South West Wales Hub. The Hub has procured an interim treatment 

contract and will procure a long-term contract to secure treatment of food waste by 

Anaerobic Digestion. 

 

Swansea Council are participating in discussions with an expanded South West 

Wales Hub regarding the procurement of a regional Energy from Waste (EfW) 

treatment contract. Swansea will continue to pursue a regional treatment contract, 

Page 43



34 
 

though should this not prove viable Swansea may have to procure a stand-alone 

EfW treatment contract. 

 

8.3 Street Lighting 

At the present time Swansea Council are replacing/upgrading our existing street 

lighting lanterns to LED’/S on which is saving the Authority approximately £400K per 

year in energy whilst also providing CO2 savings. We will continue to upgrade our 

asset with energy saving street lights and continue to switch lighting back on which 

has previously been switched off. We are also planning to look at our illuminated 

signs/bollards and provide energy efficient lamps into our existing equipment and 

also remove illuminated street furniture which is no longer required. 

 

9.0 External Funding Opportunities 

There are a number of grant funding opportunities available to local government 

including; 

 Salix, a not-for-profit organisation funded by the Department for Energy and 

Climate Change, the Department for Education, the Welsh Government, the 

Scottish Government and Higher Education Funding Council for England, 

removes this barrier by making this capital accessible to the public sector. 

Upfront capital is a common barrier for public sector organisations seeking 

solutions that cut their energy consumption. Salix enables public sector 

organisations across England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to take a 

lead in tackling climate change by increasing their energy efficiency. Salix 

provides 100% interest-free capital for the public sector to reduce their energy 

costs by enabling the installation of modern, energy efficient technologies and 

replacing dated, inefficient technologies.They have strict compliance tests of 5 

year technical payback and lifetime cost of CO2 not less than £100/tonne. 

Therefore Solar thermal will not be an applicable technology. For further 

details visit www.salixfinance.co.uk. 

 The Invest to Save (I2S) fund is a short-term pool of resources available to 

help public service organisations transform the way that they work. The fund 

supports the introduction of new or proven ways of working so that public 

services become more efficient and effective. The latest invest to save bidding 

Page 44

http://www.salixfinance.co.uk/


35 
 

round for 2015-16 began 02 June 2015. Approximately £8m is available for 

distribution. Grants are made available interest free and offer payment 

holidays and flexible repayments terms up to 8 years. The fund will provide 

75% of the capital required for a project, with the remaining 25% to be 

provided by the borrower. 

 European Investment Bank - The European Investment Bank (EIB) is the 

European Union' bank. Its mission is to promote EU's objectives by providing 

long-term financing on favourable terms for projects that support EU 

objectives. EIB funds tend to be focused on large innovative projects linked to 

regeneration and jobs e.g. tidal lagoon 

 

 Green Investment Bank - The UK Green Investment Bank was created by 

the UK Government, their sole Shareholder, who have committed to provide 

them with capital invest. They use this to back green projects, on commercial 

terms, across the UK and mobilise other private sector capital into the UK’s 

green economy. Their investments help fund the creation of new, modern, 

green infrastructure across the UK and with that, new jobs in construction and 

operations. The loans are made on commercial terms and are focused on 

large projects. 

10.0 Partnerships 

APSE 

APSE (Association for Public Service Excellence) is a not for profit local government 

body working with over 300 councils throughout the UK. Promoting excellence in 

public services, APSE is the foremost specialist in local authority front line services, 

hosting a network for front line service providers in areas such as energy, waste and 

refuse collection, parks and environmental services, leisure, school meals, cleaning, 

housing and building maintenance.  

 

CLAW 

CLAW is the Consortium of Local Authorities in Wales that supports the professional 

and technical interests of property management in local government in Wales. 

CLAW was formed in 1962 and now works with representatives from the elected 

Page 45



36 
 

members and officials of all Welsh local authorities together with a number of 

associate member organisations for the promotion of excellence in the management 

of property assets. 

 

GREEN GROWTH WALES 

Green Growth Wales is a suite of interventions to increase and accelerate green 

investment in Wales that will reduces carbon emissions, covers its own costs, 

creates public sector saving/income over the longer term and create economic 

benefit including employment. It is a financial offering from Welsh Government to the 

public sector for investment for energy efficiency and renewable energy projects for 

businesses in Wales. Their vision is to see all communities and businesses using 

locally generated electricity and heat, from a range of renewable installations, to 

supply local demand and to minimise Wales’ dependence on central generation. 

 

11.0 Related Strategies and Policies 

Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Strategy 

Asset Management Strategy 

Carbon Reduction Strategy 

Commercialism Strategy 

Planning Policy 

Sustainable Development Policy  

Local Housing Strategy 

ICT Strategy 

 
12.0 Communication, Monitoring & Review 

This Energy Strategy sets out the Aims & Objectives of the City & County of 

Swansea. Leading on from this, an action plan will be developed, detailing the 

actions that the Authority will need to take to deliver their Energy Strategy. The 

Strategy will be reviewed annually to account for operational changes, new 

legislation and technology, amongst other things that may influence the roll out of 

this action plan. The action plan will be monitored  on a monthly basis via 

Page 46



37 
 

performance management meetings to ensure the evolving Energy strategy is driven 

forward and any risks/issues are mitigated as the occur. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



38 
 

Appendix 1 – Aims & Objectives 
 
Energy Strategy Aim: 
City & County of Swansea will contribute towards a sustainable low carbon economy by delivering an Energy Strategy that delivers 
real benefits to society, the economy and the environment and sets out our wider and long term aims for energy across Swansea 
the place, as well as the council within the context of national and international developments. 

 
Energy Strategy Objectives: 
 
Objective 1: To reduce energy consumption and improve the energy efficiency of City & County of Swansea’s public building and           
  housing stock portfolio 
Objective 2: To invest in renewable technologies that will benefit the council and the wider community 
Objective 3: To secure or facilitate community access to affordable low carbon/renewable energy 
Objective 4: Explore and maximise commercial opportunities to benefit community wellbeing and/or financial gain 
Objective 5: Ensure Energy Strategy and action plan are delivered in line with current legislation 

 
 
Through implementation of this action plan the City & County of Swansea will mitigate the: 

 Effects of Climate change by reducing their carbon emissions 

 Risks associated with Energy security by sourcing low carbon/renewable energy sources and eradicating fuel poverty 

 Risks associated with increased energy costs  
 
Benefits  
 

 Economic Gain 

 Climate Change Mitigation 

 Eradication of Fuel Poverty 

 Carbon reduction 

 Community Engagement 

 Reduced Energy Costs 

 Secure & Sustainable Energy Supply 

P
age 48



39 
 

 
Quick Wins 
 

 Feasibility of Wind, Hydro, Solar , Biomass on Council owned assets/land 

 Feasibility of buying options (use of Frameworks) 

 Feasibility of low carbon technologies on Council owned Assets such as LED lighting  

 Partnerships/ Collaborative working with public sector organisations i.e. joint ventures, ESCOs, community ownership, 
private ownership, public sector ownership. 

 
 
Risk Register 
 

 Changes to subsidies (FITs, RHI, ROCs etc.,) 

 Payback term 

 Timescales 

 Legislation changes 

 Planning constraints 

 Budgetary cuts (Swansea Council and Welsh Government) 

 Lack of private sector interest 

 Public Opposition  

 Conflicting council priorities 

 Access to capital 

 Knowledge 

 Ability to adapt to changes in legislation 

 Energy security 

 Energy prices 

 Fines for missing targets 

 Compliance with state-aid for seeking subsidies  

P
age 49



40 
 

Appendix 2 – Microgeneration Technologies 
 
DECC - the department’s policies on renewable energy. 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-energy-climate-change 
 
The Carbon Trust - guidance on renewable energy FIT, ROC, RHI and CfD. 
 
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes 
 
Public funders - for energy saving initiatives (Salix, I2S, PWLB, Green Investment 
Bank etc.) 
 
http://salixfinance.co.uk/ 
http://www.greeninvestmentbank.com/ 
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/invest-to-save/ 
http://www.dmo.gov.uk/index.aspx?page=PWLB/Introduction 
 
Ofgem - monitors FIT funding, deployment and caps, it also monitors RHI funding 
and deployment, Climate Change Levy etc. 
 
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-
tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports 
 
Refit - the Welsh Governments subsidised energy saving refit programme. 
 
http://gov.wales/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2016/160310-re-fit/?lang=en 
 
Resource Efficient Wales - provides support on energy, water and waste saving 
programmes. 
 
http://resourceefficient.gov.wales/?lang=en 
 
Welsh Government – energy policies are posted daily on the website 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/?lang=en 
 
Energy Companies – for connections, capacity constraints etc. 
 
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/ 
http://www.spenergynetworks.co.uk/pages/getting_connected.asp 
 
 
 
 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-energy-climate-change
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes
http://salixfinance.co.uk/
http://www.greeninvestmentbank.com/
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/invest-to-save/
http://www.dmo.gov.uk/index.aspx?page=PWLB/Introduction
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports
http://gov.wales/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2016/160310-re-fit/?lang=en
http://resourceefficient.gov.wales/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/?lang=en
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/
http://www.spenergynetworks.co.uk/pages/getting_connected.asp


41 
 

Appendix 4 (Proposed 27 August 2015 DECC subsidies, Wind, Solar and Hydro 
changes) 
 

 

 
 
DECC proposed move from RPI-linked tariffs to a CPI-link for new installations. 
 
The removal of the generation tariff for new FIT applications from January 2016 if 
proposed cost control deployment caps are deemed unable to place the costs of the 
scheme on an affordable and sustainable trajectory or, alternatively, further reducing 
the size of the scheme’s remaining budget available for the cap. 
 
DECC do not propose to change policy around micro CHP, because there has been 
insufficient deployment to justify a review of this area and there is not therefore a 
sufficiently broad set of data on which to base tariff changes. We propose that the 
existing cap on installations remains in place, along with the trigger of 12,000 
installations for a review of tariff and deployment levels. 
 
[Consultation on the above proposed changes closed 23 October NO decision is yet 
announced.] 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



42 
 

Appendix 5 – Energy Self Sufficiency case studies 
. 
Case Studies: Milton Keynes – Imagine MK 2050 Strategy 
 
 
Vision - ‘Milton Keynes will be a near zero carbon city with a high quality of life for all 
by 2050’. The definition of ‘near zero carbon’ city is for near zero net carbon 
emissions.  
 
Aim of the project – to gather ideas for low carbon cities and share the knowledge 
with project partner.  The Council already had in place a Local Carbon Programme 
which included the Low Carbon Living Strategy and Action Plan developed in 2010 
and 2012 respectively.  The Imagine project used European funding to build on 
existing work and to share best practise across Europe.   
 
Themes – The strategy has five themes: 
 

1. Buildings and energy generation – zero carbon building standard for new 
builds, near zero carbon upgrade standard for existing buildings, energy 
efficiently and renewable energy use. 

2. Travel – zero carbon emissions, encourage sustainable modes of transport, 
low carbon vehicles, technology to reduce travel need.  

3. Waste and water – high recycling targets, energy form waste, zero carbon 
water treatment, reduce water usage per person. 

4. Smart City and community – smart grid network data collection, encourage 
and support new technologies and partnerships, integration of services, 
encourage community led initiatives.  

5. Greenspace and food – use of urban and rural green space for leisure, food, 
biomass fuel and carbon storage. Encourage local food production and low 
carbon diets. 

 
The themes were chosen based on: 
 

 Whether or not the activities directly affected carbon emissions and whether 
or not changes would influence a low carbon future,  

 Whether or not the activities was currently being measured and if not was it 
measureable,  

 Whether or not the activity directly affected quality of life, 

 If the theme was raised by the stakeholder.  
 
Success to date - Target to reduce carbon emission per person (i.e. across the 
borough) by 40% by 2020 for a 2005 baseline and to near zero carbon by 2050 or 
sooner.  2012 figures show that compared to the 2005 baseline per person emission 
has fallen by 23% (dropping from 7.8 total emission tonnes to 6.0) and that Milton 
Keynes is on track to meet the 2020 target.  This success was achieved during the 
development of the 2050 Strategy and as a result of Low Carbon Living Strategy 
developed in 2010.   
 
How will this be achieved –   
 

Page 52



43 
 

 Develop and regularly update the Action Plan; 

 Embedding carbon reduction and sustainability into all Council Plans and 
Strategies; 

 Monitoring and auditing success; 

 Promoting low carbon solutions; 

 Cross Council and external partnership working and collaboration; 

 Improved management and monitoring of data; 

 Encouraging innovation with stakeholders; 

 Linking to Economic Development Strategy; 

 Focus on energy efficiency;  

 Working with communities to support local projects and businesses. 
 
Next Steps – Produce an Action Plan to deliver the strategy. 
 
Case Studies: Haringey 40:20 
 
Aim of Project – Target of reducing carbon emission in Haringey by 40% by 2020, 
improving well-being in the borough and encouraging prosperity through the 
development of a sustainable green economy.   
 
Themes – The Carbon Management Plan includes the following activities all of which 
contribute to achieving the project aim: 
 

 More efficient homes; 

 Growing the local green economy; 

 Renewables (solar); 

 Research with Durham University; 

 Community Energy Networks; 

 Sustainable modes of transport; 

 Waste minimisation (recycling). 
 
Success to date– Since 2005 (baseline year) Haringey’s total estimated emission 
have fallen by 11%.  This includes an over 13% reduction since 2005 in domestic 
emissions (i.e. energy consumption around the home), a nearly 18% reduction in 
transport emissions (i.e. freight and passenger transport for both private and 
business purposes) and a nearly 4% reduction in Business emissions (industrial and 
commercial electricity consumption).   
 
Case Study:  Nottingham City Council Energy Strategy 2010 – 2020 
 
Vision – To make sure Nottingham is a future-proof city, including: 
 

 A city insulated against high energy prices, 

 Secure, low carbon energy supply and service available for business , public and 
domestic sector, 

 A city prepared for climate change and peak oil, 

 A city leading on growth in low carbon jobs, industries, services and training, 

 A city exemplar of integrated low carbon neat, power and transport, 

 An explore of neighbourhood community energy solutions, 

Page 53



44 
 

 A smart city where energy flows are planned, mapped and monitored. 
  
 Aims –  
 
1. Reduce energy use in public sector infrastructure; 
2. Reduce energy use in domestic properties and tackle fuel poverty; 
3. Support increased energy efficiency in city businesses; 
4. Develop alternative energy sources, supply chains and services; 
5. Support low carbon transport infrastructure; 
6. Create local jobs and opportunities in energy sector businesses; 
7. Develop strong external and community partnerships; 
8. Support local community energy initiatives. 
 
There are SMART energy efficiently targets attached top these aims they are 
summarised in Table 1 on page 25 of the Energy Strategy which can be found here: 
http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=19119&p=0    The 
strategies principal aims by 2020 are: 
 

 26% reduction of carbon dioxide emissions against 2005 levels 

 20% of the City’s own energy generated from low or zero carbon sources 
 
Success to date – In the 2011 Energy Strategy Update Position Review published in 
2013 shows a 21% reduction in carbon emission against 2005 levels.  The report 
states that the Council is confident that the 2020 target of a 26% reduction will be 
met, predominantly 
through continued energy efficiency measures being installed to domestic properties.   
 
On the 20% own energy generation target the report states that Nottingham started 
in a position of advantage by already generating 11.45% of our own energy from low 
or zero carbon.  In 2011 the Nottingham was producing 14.55% of its own energy for 
low or zero carbon.  More recent data shows that this figure rose to 15.25% in 2013.  
The Council states in the 2013 report that based on analysis, at present the 
forecasts show they will nearly meet this target (see figure below), but that the 
increases in the percentage of energy demand met through low and zero carbon 
energy will be achieved mainly through falling energy demand as opposed to a 
significant rise in low or zero carbon generation. 
 

Page 54

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=19119&p=0


45 
 

 
Source: Nottingham city Council, Energy Services Directorate. 

 
 
Case Study – Anglesey Energy Island 
 
The Energy Island Programme (EIP) is a partnership between public and private 
sector organisation which aims to use the energy to take a different approach to 
economic, social and environmental development which will put Anglesey at the 
forefront of energy research and development, production and servicing, bringing 
with it potentially huge economic rewards.  The program focuses on: 
 
1. Production – Investing in new low carbon energy production to help secure a 

stable energy future for Wales; 
2. Demonstration – Establishing world-class facilities to place Anglesey as a 

leading location for low carbon energy innovation and demonstration; 
3. Servicing – Ensuring that local companies and people benefit and take 

advantage of opportunities for new energy investments. 
 
In delivering the vision it is the EIP’s role to: 
 

 Support low carbon energy developments 

 Enhance employment growth 

 Prepare local businesses 

 Sustain communities 
 
This will be achieved via Energy Island Framework:  
 
Short term – Large and small scale biomass installations and supporting energy 
groups, energy efficiency measures, micro generation.  Initial discussion and 
negotiation to maximise opportunities from Offshore wind Irish Sea round 3 Zone.   

Page 55



46 
 

 
Medium to Long term – New build at Wylfa up to 3.2 GW, implementation of the tidal 
project at Skerris offshore wind base at Holyhead Port and the replanting of onshore 
wind farms. 
 
Long term – Tidal power expansion and development of the hydrogen economy. 
 
The employment benefits of the programme are estimated to have the potential to 
create up to 4500 construction jobs in Anglesey and North West Wales (including in 
the supply chain).  These employment opportunities are supported by an 
apprenticeship programme run via Cwmni Prentis Menai and set up with the specific 
aim of equipping young local people with the engineering and construction skills they 
will need to maximise the transformational opportunities of Energy Island.   The 
apprenticeship programme is supported by the Welsh Government.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



47 
 

References 
Environmental Energies 

http://www.environmentalenergies.co.uk/ 
 
Energy Saving Trust 

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 
 
Pure Energy Centre 

http://pureenergycentre.com/ 
 
Department for Business Innovation & Skills, the Size and Performance of the UK Low Carbon 
Economy, Report 2010 to 2013, March 2015 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41624
0/bis-15-206-size-and-performance-of-uk-low-carbon-economy.pdf 
 
Innovate UK, Building Performance Evaluation Programme: Findings from non-domestic projects, at 
a glance, January 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/49770
6/Non_Domestic_Building_performance_Summary_2016.pdf 
 
Innovate UK, Building Performance Evaluation Programme: Findings from domestic projects, at a 
glance, January 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/49775
7/Domestic_Building_Performance_Summary_2016.pdf 
 
Department of Energy and Climate Change and Department for the Environment Food and Rural 
Affairs, Element Energy, Further Analysis of Data from the Household Electricity Usage Study: 
Correlation of Consumption with Low Carbon Technologies 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32609
2/HEUS_Lot_II_Correlation_of_Consumption_with_Low_Carbon_Technologies_Fina
....pdf 
 
Energy Saving Trust, Making Retrofit Reality 

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/making-retrofit-reality 
  
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Biomass Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-biomas-
568e76af89d30.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Heat Pumps Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-heat-p-
568e76ba45c30.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Hydropower Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-hydro-
568e76c5825ab.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Solar Photovoltaic Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solar-
568e76d3c9a20.pdf 

Page 57

http://www.environmentalenergies.co.uk/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/
http://pureenergycentre.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416240/bis-15-206-size-and-performance-of-uk-low-carbon-economy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416240/bis-15-206-size-and-performance-of-uk-low-carbon-economy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497706/Non_Domestic_Building_performance_Summary_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497706/Non_Domestic_Building_performance_Summary_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497757/Domestic_Building_Performance_Summary_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497757/Domestic_Building_Performance_Summary_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/326092/HEUS_Lot_II_Correlation_of_Consumption_with_Low_Carbon_Technologies_Fina....pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/326092/HEUS_Lot_II_Correlation_of_Consumption_with_Low_Carbon_Technologies_Fina....pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/326092/HEUS_Lot_II_Correlation_of_Consumption_with_Low_Carbon_Technologies_Fina....pdf
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/making-retrofit-reality
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-biomas-568e76af89d30.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-biomas-568e76af89d30.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-heat-p-568e76ba45c30.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-heat-p-568e76ba45c30.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-hydro-568e76c5825ab.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-hydro-568e76c5825ab.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solar-568e76d3c9a20.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solar-568e76d3c9a20.pdf


48 
 

 
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Solar Thermal Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solarth-
568e76e76f8ee.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Local Energy, Wind Module 

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-wind-m-
568e76ddef4d4.pdf 
 
Energy Efficiency in Wales: A strategy for the next 10 years 2016-2026 

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160223-energy-efficiency-in-wales-en.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Fuel Poverty, 10th March 2015 

http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/?lang=en 
 
Welsh Government, Welsh Housing Quality Standard  

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/141030-whqs-guide-for-social-landlords-
en.pdf 
 
Welsh Government, Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition Delivery Plane, March 2014 

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/140314energy-wales-delivery-plan-en.pdf 
 
BREEAM, BREEAM International Refurbishment and Fit-out Technical Standard 

http://www.breeam.com/refurbishment-and-fit-out 
 
Department of Energy & Climate Change, Smart Meters: a guide 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/smart-meters-how-they-work 
 
Carbon Trust, Renewable Energy Sources 

https://www.carbontrust.com/media/7379/ctv010_-_renewable_energy_sources.pdf 
 
Swansea.gov.uk, Carbon Reduction Strategy – Action Plan 

http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Ac

tion_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf 

Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Housing, Carbon Reduction Strategy & Carbon 

Commitment Energy Efficiency of Scheme (CRC) Legislation 

http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__

CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf 

 
Welsh Government, Arbed – Strategic energy performance investment programme, 14th March 2013 

http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/efficiency/arbed/?lang=en 
 
Ofgem, Energy Company Obligation (Eco) 

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/energy-company-obligation-
eco 
 
Green Deal: energy saving for your home 

Page 58

http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solarth-568e76e76f8ee.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-solarth-568e76e76f8ee.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-wind-m-568e76ddef4d4.pdf
http://localenergy.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/local-energy-toolkit-wind-m-568e76ddef4d4.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160223-energy-efficiency-in-wales-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/141030-whqs-guide-for-social-landlords-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/141030-whqs-guide-for-social-landlords-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/140314energy-wales-delivery-plan-en.pdf
http://www.breeam.com/refurbishment-and-fit-out
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/smart-meters-how-they-work
https://www.carbontrust.com/media/7379/ctv010_-_renewable_energy_sources.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Action_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/j/0/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy_Action_Plan_-_Aug_2013.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf
http://staffnet.internal.swansea.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/4/Carbon_Reduction_Strategy__CRC_Scheme_Report_-_Nov_2011.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/efficiency/arbed/?lang=en
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/energy-company-obligation-eco
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/energy-company-obligation-eco


49 
 

https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/overview 
 
Green Deal: energy saving for your home, Improvements and benefits to your home 

https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/improvements-and-benefits-
to-your-home 
 
Parliament.uk, Community Energy Savings Programme  

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06197 
 
Department of Energy & Climate Change, Evaluation of the Carbon Emissions Reduction Target and 
Community Energy Saving Programme: Executive Summary 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/35095
7/CERT_CESP_Evaluation_Exec_summary.pdf 
 
Carbon Trust, Renewable Energy Sources 

https://www.carbontrust.com/media/7379/ctv010_-_renewable_energy_sources.pdf 
 
Department of Energy & Climate Chance, Combined heat and power 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/combined-heat-and-power 
 
Becoming an authorised Green Deal organisation 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/becoming-an-authorised-green-deal-organisation 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-energy-climate-change 
 
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes 
 
http://salixfinance.co.uk/ 
 
http://www.greeninvestmentbank.com/ 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/invest-to-save/ 
 
http://www.dmo.gov.uk/index.aspx?page=PWLB/Introduction 
 
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-
tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports 
 
http://gov.wales/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2016/160310-re-fit/?lang=en 
 
http://resourceefficient.gov.wales/?lang=en 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/?lang=en 
 
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/ 
 
http://www.spenergynetworks.co.uk/pages/getting_connected.asp 
 
Swansea City Deal 
http://www.swanseabaycityregion.com/en/index.htm 

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/overview
https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/improvements-and-benefits-to-your-home
https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/improvements-and-benefits-to-your-home
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06197
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/350957/CERT_CESP_Evaluation_Exec_summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/350957/CERT_CESP_Evaluation_Exec_summary.pdf
https://www.carbontrust.com/media/7379/ctv010_-_renewable_energy_sources.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/combined-heat-and-power
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-energy-climate-change
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes
http://salixfinance.co.uk/
http://www.greeninvestmentbank.com/
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/invest-to-save/
http://www.dmo.gov.uk/index.aspx?page=PWLB/Introduction
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/feed-tariff-fit-scheme/feed-tariff-reports-and-statistics/feed-tariff-deployment-caps-reports
http://gov.wales/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2016/160310-re-fit/?lang=en
http://resourceefficient.gov.wales/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/?lang=en
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/
http://www.spenergynetworks.co.uk/pages/getting_connected.asp
http://www.swanseabaycityregion.com/en/index.htm


          Appendix B to PDC Energy Strategy Update dated_25 Feb 20 

 
 
City & County of Swansea: Energy Strategy 2016 
(Appendix 3 – Original Carbon Reduction Action Plan) 
 

No. Project RO What is currently in place Action required By whom By When Progress to date Cost / 
Anticipated 
savings 

Status Feb 
2020 

 Short Term – 1 to 2 
years 
(2013/14 & 2014/15) 

        

CP3.1 Record and document 
energy & carbon 
baseline data 

JRL 100% data recording process 
now established since 2009/10 
(baseline year) 

Continuous data 
recording process 
via the TEAM 
Sigma Energy 
Management 
system 

Energy 
Management 
Unit. 

Continuous 
process 

Data recorded 
monthly 

Not applicable New 
baseline in 
alignment 
with Welsh 
Governmen
t guidelines 
Climate 
Emergency 
declaration 

CP3.2 Energy / Carbon 
Management recording 
and reporting in 
relation to Performance 
Measurement and 
Legislative 
requirements 

JRL Energy and Carbon data collation 
for PI EEF/002a and Carbon 
Reduction Commitment Energy 
Efficiency (CRC) Scheme 

Energy data 
management and 
reporting via 
TEAM 
Sigma Energy 
Management 
system 

Energy 
Management 
Unit 

PI EEF/002a & 
CRC reports 
issued each 
July for 
previous 
financial year 

PI & CRC Reports 
issued within 
predetermined 
timescales 

2012/13 CRC 
charge of 
£392,424 to be 
paid in Sept 
2013. Allowances 
to be 
surrendered in 
Sept 2013. 

Completed 
19-20 

CP3.3 Include Carbon 
reporting within the 
Councils Statement of 
Accounts for 2012/13 

MH / 
JRL / 
TN Carbon data currently being 

recorded for Energy use, Fleet / 
Waste transport, Business 
Mileage 

Report carbon 
emissions within 
the 2012/13 
Statement of 
Accounts 

Sustainable 
Development 
Unit / Energy 
Management 
Unit / Finance 

Carbon data 
issued to SD 
Unit in August 
2013 

Carbon 
performance to 
be published 
within the 
Councils Annual 
Statement of 
Accounts for 
2012/13 

Not applicable Further 
resource 
required for 
collation of 
fleet data 

CP3.4 Implementation of 
Ebilling for 

JR/NP Testing of energy suppliers ebills 
now complete.  Electronic 

Continue the 
recording of BGB 

Energy 
Management 

Corona 
testing to be 

All EDF accounts 
being centrally 

Efficiency savings 
in the automatic 

EDI Billing in 
place in EDF 

P
age 60



electronically 
processing "centrally 
paid" energy bills 

payment of EDF accounts now 
implemented with payment 
reports also developed for 
finance managers. Testing of 
Corona ebill 95% complete 

ebills within 
TEAM Sigma Test 
system. 

Unit / Finance 
Accounts 
Payable / IT 

completed by 
September 
2013 

paid via ebilling 
process.  

checking & 
payment of circa 
900 centrally 
paid energy bills 

Energy and 
Corona 
Energy 

CP3.5 Invest to Save Heating 
Control Systems 

JRL / 
DM 

Phase 1 completed by CB&PS. 
Phase 2 Framework contract set 
up with 3 specialist controls 
contractors. 

Installation of 40 
new TREND IQ3 
heating control 
systems 
commenced in 
August 2011. 

Energy 
Management 
Unit 

The 
installation & 
commissionin
g of all new 
control 
systems was 
completed in 
March 2012 

Full handover / 
system sign off 
completed in 
December 2012. 

Project cost £90K 
Average of 8% 
saving in fossil 
fuel costs 
predicted for 
each premises. 

Complete 

CP3.6 Energy related IT 
proposals: Automatic 
PC Shutdown & Virtual 
Server implementation 
within the Civic Centre. 
Potential introduction 
of thin client 
technology in 2013/14 

PL / 
TW 

Council policy to automatically 
shut down desktop PC’s 
completed in May 2010. 80% of 
server virtualisation completed 
in December 2012. Further 
system development due in 
2013/14. 

Phased 
implementation 
of virtual servers 
during 2012/13 
with associated 
reduction in IT 
server room 
cooling capacity.  

IT client team 
/ CapGemini / 
CB&PS 
Mechanical 
services team 
/ Energy 
Management 
Unit 

2013/14 80% of server 
virtualisation 
completed in 
December 2012 

Project cost 
£531K. Estimated 
energy cost 
savings £87K per 
annum 

Complete 

CP3.7 Implementation of 
Automatic energy 
metering (AMR) to 
Corporate Premises 

JRL / 
DM / 
AD 

AMR framework contracts 
established by the Government 
Procurement Service. Legal 
approval of energy supplier 
model contracts completed in 
May 2012. 

Final Inventory of 
NHH electricity 
meter points 
issued to BGB in 
July 2012. 

Energy 
Management 
Unit 

250 Electricity 
SMART 
meters by 
March 2013. 
Further target 
of 400 SMART 
meters 
installed by 
March 2014 

320 Electricity 
SMART meters 
installed up to 
week ending 
16/8/13. 

Gas AMR leasing 
cost to be 
charged within 
monthly energy 
bill. Scheme 
linked to ebilling 
& energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

Ongoing 

CP3.8 Creating an Energy 
Awareness 
Programme for 
Council staff. 

JRL Good energy housekeeping guide 
available via staff Intranet 
service 

Develop 
communications 
strategy for 
Council staff 
engagement. 
Further develop 
the Councils 
Green Champions 
network Produce 

Carbon 
Reduction 
Strategy team 

Detailed 
programme to 
be advised 
Scheme to be 
further 
supported 
with 
additional 

Draft 
Communication
s Plan 
developed. Pilot 
staff awareness 
programme 
commence 
within C&T 

5-10% energy 
cost saving could 
be anticipated 
from this & 
related 
programmes. 

Completed, 
but propose 
new 
campaign in 
light of 
Climate 
Emergency 
declaration 

P
age 61



an intranet linked 
staff awareness / 
training service 

resource by 
SD Unit 

Service in 
December 2012. 

CP3.9 Heads of Service to 
include energy costs / 
use & carbon 
reduction reporting 
with their P&FM 
meetings 

JRL / 
Perfor
mance 
Manag
ement 
Team / 
C&T 
HoS 

Collation of energy data now 
available from TEAM Sigma 
system for all individual buildings 
or services. 

Develop report 
with TEAM Sigma 
software support 
staff. Agree 
service groups for 
pilot via AMG. 
Agree with HoS 
the method of 
reporting to be 
implemented. 

JRL / MN / 
C&T HoS 

Design & 
development 
of report 
completed in 
August 2013. 
Pilot launch 
planned via 
Place P&FM in 
October 2013 

Initial draft 
report 
presented at 
Regeneration 
P&FM meeting. 

Linked to energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

P&FM 
reports 
delivered in 
line  with 
reporting 
cycle 

CP3.10 Develop TEAM Sigma 
"Web module" for all 
Council premises and 
budget managers to 
remotely access 
energy cost and 
consumption reports 

DM / 
IT 
Client 
teams 

Web module purchased and 
technical development work 
completed with TEAM Sigma 
support staff. 

Complete web 
module 
development and 
set up 
independent 
password access 
for premises and 
budget managers 

Energy 
Management 
Unit / IT client 
teams / TEAM 
EAA Ltd 

July 2013 but 
dependant on 
system 
development 
work 

Development 
ongoing with IT 
client teams & 
pilot sites now 
being tested for 
access to TEAM 
Sigma web 
module. 

Linked to energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

 Sigma 
Training 
arranged 27 
Feb 20 

CP3.11 Implementation of 
Capital Maintenance 
energy efficiency 
schemes 

JRL / 
DM 

£80K Capital Maintenance 
budget approved to fund 
schemes during April 2013 to 
March 2014 

Identification of 
cost effective 
schemes via the 
programme of 
building energy 
surveys. 

Energy Mgt 
Unit / Design 
& 
Maintenance 
teams. 

March 2014 All new 
schemes on 
target to be 
installed by 
March 2014 

Assessed for each 
individual scheme 

Ongoing 
Budget 
allocation 
check with 
GB 

CP3.12 Publishing Display 
Energy Certificates 
for the Councils 
public buildings over 
1,000 square meters 

JRL / 
DM 

Annual programme for lodging 
27 DECs with CIBSE 

Maintain Low 
Carbon Energy 
Assessor 
Accreditation 
with CIBSE 

Energy 
Management 
Unit 

Annually in 
line with each 
DEC renewal 
date 

All current 
DEC’s published 
and displayed 
for public 
viewing 

Linked to energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

Ongoing 

CP3.13 Implementation of 
Capital Maintenance 
programme for 
projects that affect 
the Councils energy 
performance 

GB / 
CH / JL 
/ NG / 
DM 

Annual Capital Maintenance 
programme 

Design and 
installation of 
Capital 
maintenance 
schemes 

Corporate 
Building & 
Property 
Services 

Continuous 
programme 

Progress 
recorded within 
CB&PS project 
management 
status reports 

As per Capital 
Maintenance 
programme 

Ongoing 

P
age 62



CP3.14 Street Lighting -
Implementation of 
new initiatives and 
funding being led by 
WG 

CV / JH 3 Year investment programme Replacement of 
existing lighting 
stock to energy 
efficient lighting 
using LED 
technology. 

Street scene – 
Street 
Lighting team 

To be 
completed by 
April 2015. 

£2 Million spent 
to date. 

Project cost 
6million funded 
via prudential 
borrowing by WG. 

Continuing 
programme 

CP3.15 Acquisition of 35 
hybrid fleet vehicles 

MB Fleet replacement programme Business case 
approved for the 
procurement of 
hybrid vehicles 

Fleet 
Management 
team 

June 2013 35 vehicles now 
delivered 

CO2 saving of 220 
tonnes over the 7 
year life. 

Electric fleet 
continues to 
expand – 40 
vans & 1 car 

CP3.16 Acquisition of electric 
pool car vehicles & 
installation of 
charging points 

CH / 
KR / PB 
/ JL 

Purchase of up to 11 electric 
pool cars with charging points at 
3 Council premises 

Electric pool car 
to be operated 
from CB&PS Heol 
y Gors Depot, 
Guildhall & Street 
scene Depot 
Clydach 

CB&PS 
technical staff 
/ Facilities 
Management 
team 

June 2013 8 electric 
vehicles 
purchased & 
operating from 
the CB&PS Heol 
y Gors Depot 

£35K funding 
allocation 

Complete – 
as above 

CP3.17 Installation of 35KW 
Photovoltaic System 
at the Civic Centre 

CB&PS Initial feasibility undertaken 
Planning application approved. 

Awaiting funding 
approval to 
develop Project 
specification. 

CB&PS 
technical staff 

2014 
following the 
establishment 
of WPC PV 
contract 

Initial feasibility 
study 
undertaken 
Planning 
application 
approved 
December 
2012. 

£70K budget cost 
with 9 years 
simple payback 

Complete 
but funding 
reallocated 
to Guildhall 

CP3.18 Further develop the 
"Scope" of future 
carbon emissions 
reporting within the 
Annual Statement of 
Accounts 

JRL / 
TN / SR 
/ MH 

Corporate building emissions 
reported with fleet use, business 
mileage data. Waste emissions 
recorded from Civic Centre only. 
Water use recorded for Civic 
Centre & Guildhall. 

Phased inclusion 
of Renewables, 
Refrigerant, 
Waste / Recycling 
& Water data in 
future carbon 
emissions 
measurement and 
reporting 

Energy 
Management 
Unit / SD Unit 
/ CTU / 
Transportatio
n & Waste 
Management 
teams. 

Phased 
inclusion 
within Annual 
Statement of 
Accounts 
from 2012/13 

Investigating 
Refrigerant 
measurement 
with specialist 
contractor 

Not applicable Aligned in 
the Climate 
Charter 

CP3.19 Imbedding 
Sustainability within 
the Councils 
Procurement Process 

TN / 
PG / 
Procur
ement 
/ JL 

Sustainable Procurement 
Assessment Framework (SPAF) -
annual assessment / plan of 
continuous improvement now 
include a clause on Energy 
Management / Carbon 

Include clause(s) 
on carbon 
reduction in the 
SPAF. 

Sustainable 
Development 
Unit / 
Procurement 
/ Energy 

Clause initially 
included for 
Jan 2012 SPAF 
review 

Self-Assessment 
SPAF score of 
4.3 recorded for 
2012/13. 
(Second highest 

 ‘Procureme
nt Fitness 
Check 
Reports’ 
now used 

P
age 63



Reduction. Management 
Unit 

recorded by 
Value Wales) 

effectively 
by council 

 Medium Term 2 3 
years 

        

CP3.20 Develop carbon 
communications plan 

JRL / 
TN 

Sustainable Development 
Communications forum 
established within the Council 

Pilot service 
specific energy 
efficiency 
behaviour change 
programme 

Energy 
Management 
Unit / 
Sustainable 
Development 
Unit 

2013/14 New proposal Linked to energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

Complete 

CP3.21 Publish Success 
stories of best 
practice energy 
conservation 
measures as part of 
the staff Energy 
Awareness Campaign 
communications 
plan. 

JRL New proposal Monitor energy 
consumption and 
report energy / 
carbon savings 
achieved. Publish 
success stories 
via staff intranet 

Energy 
Management 
Unit / Carbon 
reduction team 
/ 
Communications 
officer 

 Success story on 
Display Energy 
Certificate 
Results at the 
Grand Theatre 
has previously 
been published 
on the intranet 

Linked to energy 
awareness / staff 
engagement 
programme 

Ongoing 

CP3.22 Sustainable changes 
& development 

 Medium/long term strategies in 
accordance with Sustainable 
Development team 

Develop regular 
liaison to ensure 
cross fertilisation 
of ideas. 

Carbon 
Reduction team 

   Ongoing 
 

CP3.23 Budget savings 
reporting 

 Limited information at CMT level 
that doesn't provide enough 
service level detail 

Begin collating 
service specific 
information, 
improving HoS 
accountability 

   Linked to Head of 
Service Reporting 
(CP 3.9) 

Complete 

CP3.24 Develop Renewable 
Energy / Micro 
Generation strategy 

JL / TN Renewable & Micro generation 
Investment within major capital 
construction projects. 

Approval of 
Strategy to 
present the 
Councils future 
proposals for 
renewable 
energy & micro-
generation 
systems 

Carbon 
Reduction team 

To be 
advised 

Framework 
contract for the 
installation of 
PV systems 
being 
developed by 
the Welsh 
Purchasing 
Consortium 

 Ongoing. 
Energy 
Strategy 
needs to be 
updated to 
reflect 
climate 
change 
declaration 

 Long term 3 - 5 years         

P
age 64



CP3.25 Carbon Trust / Green 
Dragon Standard (full 
or part accreditation) 

 Not necessarily aiming for full 
accreditation but aiming to put 
standard values and principles in 
place. 

     Complete 

CP3.26 Publish a Carbon 
Emissions reduction 
plan for the CCoS. 

 New proposal      Will form 
part of work 
going 
forward 

CP3.27 Strategic links to 
Accommodation 
Strategy 

 Accommodation Strategy 
already up and running as part 
of Asset Management 
programme 

     Ongoing 

Other Projects as of February 2020 
No. Project RO What is currently in place Action required By whom By When Progress to 

date 
Cost / 
Anticipated 
savings 

Status Feb 
2020 

 Develop 
appropriate carbon 
reduction target and 
reporting for non-
domestic buildings 
 

AM Updating Energy 
Management Strategy 
aligning with Welsh 
Government Net Zero Carbon 
Reporting framework 

Utilise the 
SIGMA M&T 
system for data 
analysis 

Energy 
Management 

Annual Waiting for 
WG guidance 
to be 
published 

 Waiting for 
WG 

guidance 
to be 

published 

 Update the Energy 
Management 
Strategy paper 
 

AM Currently with PDC for 
approval 

Update Energy 
Strategy 

Energy 
Management 

May 2020 With PDC 
approval 

 Waiting for 
approval 

 Water Management 
In collaboration with 
Welsh Water -
undertake data 
cleanse covering all 
non-domestic sites 

AM Water information is out of 
date and inaccurate, data not 
being captured by SIGMA for 
bill validation and water 
management (leakage) / 
reporting against Scope 3 

Review welsh 
water cleanse 
data spread / 
move towards 
EDI billing  

Energy 
Management 

Jun 2020 To be 
reviewed 

 To be 
reviewed 

 Phase 1 Refit 
Project  – 
Commence 
Delivery of project 
towards achieving 
Energy 
Conservation 
Measure (ECMs) 

AM IGP in place identifying all 
sites for ECMs / cost and 
reduction savings 

Final contract 
sign off 
arranged for 21 
Feb 20.  Works 
Programme 
with Service 
Provider to 
commence 
Mar/Apr 20 

Energy 
Managemen t 

Nov 2020 Contract sign 
stage 

£1,397,396 
capital 
investment / 
£187,393 
guaranteed 
performance 
savings / 
379tco2 

Contract 
sign stage 
arranged 

for 21 Feb 
20 

P
age 65



financial and 
carbon savings 

 Solar PV Farm – 
Working with Welsh 
Government Energy 
Services. 

AM Currently collaborating with 
Welsh Government Energy 
Services on model size 
scenarios and financial 
appraisal assumptions 
towards the development of a 
Ground Mounted Solar PV 
farm  

Continue 
working with 
WG Energy 
Services 

Energy 
Management 

Dependent 
on outcome 
of model 
developme
nt 

Legal issues 
currently being 
resolved 

Potential 
savings of  
3,189,720 kWh 
/yr  

Continuing 

 Review Display 
Energy Certificates 
and Advisory 
Reports to 
categorise buildings 
energy 
performance ratings 
to identify poor 
performing 
buildings 

AM All DECS and Advisory 
Reports in place to be 
reviewed.  
 
 

Procurement 
Contract 
(4years) 
currently being 
processed for 
DECs and ARs  

Energy 
Management 

Apr 2020 Data 
spreadsheet of 
DECs ratings 
completed 

 Continuing 

 Complete Sigma 
M&T training to 
enable 
consumption data 
analysis and 
reporting – energy; 
carbon; financial; 
budget 
management 

AM SIGMA monitoring and 
targeting system in place; 
downloading EDI energy bills 
for validation and energy 
analysis. 

Licence 
renewal and 
training 
required 

Energy 
Management 

Feb 2020 Licence paid 
and training 
arranged 

 Training on 
27th Feb 20 

 Extend ‘smart’ and 
sub-metering 
technology to 
ensure accurate 
and timely capture 
of energy 
consumption data  
 

AM Partial AMR metering place Working in 
collaboration 
with energy 
suppliers 

Energy 
Management 

TBC Continuing  Continuing 

 Develop and 
Implement 
Behaviour Change 
programmes 

AM New behaviour programme / 
publicity required to be 
developed 

To be 
developed and 
implemented 

Energy 
Management 

TBC Continuing  Continuing 

P
age 66



 Develop Phase 2 
Refit: Cymru ECMs 
to achieve carbon 
reduction savings  

AM Continuation of Phase 1 Work with WG 
Energy 
Services  

Energy 
Management 

TBC Continuing  Continuing 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 67



 
 

Report of the Chair 
 

Equalities & Future Generations Policy Development Committee  
 

Workplan for 2019/20 
 

Meeting Date Agenda items and Format 

27 August 2019   Work Plan 2019/20 (Discussion) 
 

24 September 2019  Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2020/23 

 Co-production Strategic Framework  
 

22 October 2019  Presentation on Climate Emergency Actions and 
Climate Charter 

 Strategic Equality Plan Working Group 
 

26 November 2019  Gender Pay Gap Report – Action Plan Update 

 Human Resources & Organisation Development 
Report – Presentation   

 Update on Co-production 

17 December 2019  Update on progress to Council Notice of Motion 
relating to Climate Change Emergency 

 Sustainable Development Policy 

28 January 2020  CANCELLED 

25 February 2020  Energy Strategy Update 

 Feedback from Workshop on the Strategic Equality 
Plan. (Verbal) 

 Update on Sustainable Development Policy. (Verbal) 
 

24 March 2020  Update on Co-production 

 Action Plan Update from Human Resources & 
Organisational Development 

28 April 2020  
 
 

 

Workshops  

28 January 2020 Strategic Equality Plan 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion.
	4 Strategaeth Ynni.
	04 (2 of 3) - Energy Strategy Update 25.2.20.docx (2) Appendix A (002)
	04 (3 of 3) - Energy Strategy Update 25.2.20.docx (3) Appendix B

	7 Cynllun Gwaith 2019/20.

